

LUND UNIVERSITY

Knee injuries and their consequences - the impact of impact

Swärd, Per

2014

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Swärd, P. (2014). *Knee injuries and their consequences – the impact of impact.* [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Orthopaedics (Lund)]. Department of Orthopaedics, Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Knee injuries and their consequences – the impact of impact

Per Swärd



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden To be defended at Segerfalksalen, BMC, Sölvegatan 17, Lund, on 23 May 2014 at 1 pm

> *Faculty opponent* Professor Lars Engebretsen

Organization	Decument nome	
organization	DOCTORAL DISSERTA	TION
LUND UNIVERSITY		
Department of Orthopedics, Clinical Sciences, Lund	Date of issue 9/4/2014	
Author(s) Per Swärd	Sponsoring organisation	
Title and subtitle Knee injuries and their consequences – the impact of impact		
Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injuries are common, severe knee injuries that result in a high risk of developing knee osteoarthritis (OA) in the affected individuals. As proof of high impact forces applied to cartilage and bone at the time of injury, traumatic bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures, located predominantly in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment, are commonly associated with an ACL injury. The subsequent risk of OA may be closely associated with the knee injury mechanism and the panorama of injuries in the knee sustained at the onset of injury. The purpose of this work was to acquire a better understanding of how the initial impact, related to the trauma mechanism of acute knee injuries, may influence acute and chronic knee pathology.		
In this work it was found that subjects with post-traumatic OA secondary to an ACL injury have more joint space narrowing and more osteophytes in the lateral compartment than in the medial compartment, compared with subjects with non-traumatic OA. Furthermore, it was found that an acute knee injury is associated with instant and sustained synovial fluid biochemical alterations within the first month of knee injury, suggestive of increased cartilage turnover and severe joint inflammation. Those subjects who sustained an osteochondral fracture with disrupted cortical bone in association with the soft tissue knee injury had increased joint inflammation. In an in vitro bovine cartilage study, mechanical injury to cartilage increased the matrix metalloproteinase-induced cleavage of cartilage aggrecan. Moreover, findings from this model suggest that the aggrecan degradation may differ between cytokine-stimulated cartilage explants compared with cartilage explants mechanically injured and (or) co-incubated with joint capsule.		
Conclusively, the findings in this work underline the fact that the initial impact associated with an ACL appears to be important in terms of the risk of developing post-traumatic OA. In addition, this work emphasizes how the acute biological response to injury could be involved in cartilage degradation. A greater understanding of these processes could lead to the improved management of knee-injured patients and possibly delay, or even prevent, OA development.		
Key words: Anterior cruciate ligament, knee injury, post-traumatic osteoarthritis, cartilage, bone, synovium, inflammation, proteases, aggrecanase, matrix metalloproteinase, aggrecan.		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		Language
Faculty of Medicine, Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:60		
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-87651-86-1
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 170	Price
	Security classification	
I the undersigned being the commisted summer of the shotes	at a fith a share monthe and	1

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

_____Date _____2014 Signature _ PLA

Knee injuries and their consequences – the impact of impact

Per Swärd



Cover illustration: Mouse knee joint. Bone, hyaline cartilage and meniscus visualised by toluidine blue staining (40 x magnification). Published with the kind permission of Dr. André Struglics.

© Per Swärd

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:60 ISBN 978-91-87651-86-1 ISSN 1652-8220

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2014



To Catrin

Contents

Abstract	9
Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning	11
Introduction	13
Preface	13
List of studies	14
Abbreviations	15
Background	17
The knee joint	17
The anterior cruciate ligament	17
Anterior cruciate ligament tears	19
Anterior cruciate ligament injury mechanism	20
Knee injury panorama	22
Osteoarthritis	25
Knee osteoarthritis	25
Post-traumatic knee osteoarthritis	26
Cartilage	27
Synovium	31
The meniscus	32
Bone	32
Inflammation	34
Objectives	39
Specific objectives	39
Subjects	41

Methods	47
Radiography of the knee (Studies I & II)	47
MRI of the knee (Studies I & IV)	49
Alcian blue precipitation (Study III)	49
Electrochemiluminescence (Study III)	50
ELISA (Study IV)	50
Western blot (Study V)	50
Statistical methods	51
Methodological considerations	53
Subjects	53
Imaging	54
Results	55
Radiological characteristics of post- and non-traumatic knee osteoarthritis (Study 1)	55
Alignment and the risk of post-traumatic osteoarthritis (Study II)	56
Cartilage and bone markers and inflammatory cytokines in the acute phase of knee injury (Studies III & IV)	57
Osteochondral fractures and joint inflammation (Study IV)	58
Protease activity in bovine cartilage explants co-incubated with joint capsule and/or mechanically injured (Study V)	60
Conclusions	63
Discussion and future perspectives	65
Post-traumatic and non-traumatic knee osteoarthritis	65
The knee injury and the impact	66
Mechanical impact and its role in osteoarthritis initiation after ACL injury	67
Immunity vs biomechanics in driving the OA process after anterior cruciate ligament rupture	68
Concluding remarks	73
Tack	75
References	77

Abstract

Anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injuries are common, severe knee injuries that result in a high risk of developing knee osteoarthritis (OA) in the affected individuals. As proof of high impact forces applied to cartilage and bone at the time of injury, traumatic bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures, located predominantly in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment, are commonly associated with an ACL injury. The subsequent risk of OA may be closely associated with the knee injury mechanism and the panorama of injuries in the knee sustained at the onset of injury. The purpose of this work was to acquire a better understanding of how the initial impact, related to the trauma mechanism of acute knee injuries, may influence acute and chronic knee pathology.

In this work it was found that subjects with post-traumatic OA secondary to an ACL injury have more joint space narrowing and more osteophytes in the lateral compartment than in the medial compartment, compared with subjects with non-traumatic OA. Furthermore, it was found that an acute knee injury is associated with instant and sustained synovial fluid biochemical alterations within the first month of knee injury, suggestive of increased cartilage turnover and severe joint inflammation. Those subjects who sustained an osteochondral fracture with disrupted cortical bone in association with the soft tissue knee injury had increased joint inflammation. In an *in vitro* bovine cartilage study, mechanical injury to cartilage increased the matrix metalloproteinase-induced cleavage of cartilage aggrecan. Moreover, findings from this model suggest that the aggrecan degradation may differ between cytokine-stimulated cartilage explants compared with cartilage explants mechanically injured and (or) co-incubated with joint capsule.

Conclusively, the findings in this work underline the fact that the initial impact associated with an ACL appears to be important in terms of the risk of developing post-traumatic OA. In addition, this work emphasizes how the acute biological response to injury could be involved in cartilage degradation. A greater understanding of these processes could lead to the improved management of kneeinjured patients and possibly delay, or even prevent, OA development.

Populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Främre korsbandsskador är vanliga, allvarliga och traumatiska knäskador. I kombination med associerade meniskskador och ändrad ledbelastning leder skadan på sikt till att en stor andel individer utvecklar artros i ung ålder. Detta benämns post-traumatisk artros. På kort sikt kan skadan leda till oförmåga att fortsätta sin aktivetet på samma nivå som tidigare. De kraftiga kompressionskrafter över brosk och ben då skenben och lårben kolliderar i skadeögonblicket leder till skador och celldöd i vävnaderna Detta bidrar sannolikt till risken för att utveckla posttraumatisk artros. Hos fler än hälften av de skadade individerna kan man med MR visualisera en fraktur i kortikalt ben på skenben och/eller lårben. Skadorna som uppstår i samband med traumat är framförallt lokaliserade lateralt i knäleden och kan tillsammans med blödning i knäleden initiera ett inflammationssvar. Dessutom initieras en läkningsprocess som åtföljs av en ökad omsättning (nysyntes och nedbrytning) av olika broskproteiner. Det broskprotein som framförallt har undersökts under utförandet av detta avhandlingsarbete är aggrekan. Molekylen aggrekan består av ett protein på vilket det sitter ett stort antal sockerkedjor. Dessa är kraftigt negativt laddade och bidrar till broskets funktion genom att attrahera positiva motjoner, vilka genom diffusion drar till sig vatten. Detta leder till ett svullnadstryck och medför att brosket kan motstå de krafter som uppstår när man belastar knäleden. Under artrosprocessen bryts aggrekanet ned av olika enzym som finns i broskmiljön. Framförallt antas så kallade aggrekanaser och matrix metalloproteaser (MMP) ha stor betydelse. Dessa enzym klyver aggrekanmolekylen på olika ställen och genererar olika långa aggrekanfragment som kan mätas i ledväska och i broskmedium. Ett fragment som bildas efter klyvning av aggrekanaser och som analyseras i både arbete III och V är ARGSaggrekan. Ett fragment som bildas efter klyvning av MMP är FFGV-aggrecan (arbete V).

Avhandlingen utgår från frågeställningen av vad ett vridvåld i knäleden (knäledsdistorsion) innebär i det akuta skedet och på längre sikt. I första delarbetet gjordes en jämförelse av lokalisationen av artrosförändringar mellan knäleder som har ett definierat trauma (främre korsbandsskada) mot de som inte har detta. Vi fann mer lateralt lokaliserad ledspringesänkning och osteofyter i knäleder där det funnits ett definierat trauma vilket indikerar att det initiala traumat har en viktig roll i den post-traumatiska artrosprocessen. Dessutom kan det vara en viktig klinisk implikation, då det verkar som att efter en främre korsbandsskada utvecklas artros både medialt och lateralt i knäleden. Artros hos individer utan tidigare trauma är oftast lokaliserad medialt i knäleden.

I andra delarbetet belyses vilken inverkan knäledens ställning har i samband med artrosutveckling efter en korsbandsskada. Vi fann att individer med varusställning (hjulbenthet) hade mer artros i sitt skadade knä jämfört med de med normal eller valgusställning (kobenthet). Även om skillnaderna mellan grupperna var stora, var de inte statistiskt säkerställda. Mer forskning på området för att utreda om varusställning ökar risken att utveckla artros efter en främre korsbandsskada är indicerad.

Arbete III och IV utgår från mätning av ledvätskekoncentrationen av olika brosk-, ben- och inflammationsmarkörer. Vid jämförelse mellan individer med akut knäskada och knäfriska kontroller, visade sig ledvätskekoncentrationer i knäleden av total aggrekan och ARGS-aggrekan vara förhöjda från 1-3 dagar efter skadan upp till 23 dagar efter skadan. Ett annat broskprotein, COMP var förhöjt från 2-3 dagar efter skadan upp till 23 dagar efter skadan. Den nya kunskap som dessa fynd indikerar är att omsättningen av både aggrekan och COMP ökar nästan omedelbart efter skadan. Även flera pro-inflammatoriska proteiner och benassocierade proteiner återfanns i högre koncentrationer i knäleden hos de knäskadade individerna från 0-23 dagar efter knäskadan. I arbete IV undersöktes hur ovan nämnda biomarkörer relaterade till förekomst av MR-visualiserade osteokondrala frakturer där skenben och lårben kolliderade i samband med den främre korsbandsskadan. De inflammatoriska cytokinerna interleukin-8 och tumour necrosis factor- α var förhöjda i ledvätskan hos de individer som ådragit sig en osteokondral fraktur med åtföljande avbrott i det kortikala benet. Sådana frakturer skulle således kunna vara viktiga för det initiala inflammationssvaret på skadan, men även för risken att utveckla artros på lång sikt. Om så är fallet får utvärderas i framtida studier.

I arbete V studerades effekterna på aggrekannedbrytning av ett trubbigt våld mot ungt kalvbrosk i laboratoriemiljö samt effekterna av att odla ungt kalvbrosk tillsammans med ledkapsel. Mekanisk skada av brosket ledde till ökad MMPaktivitet, medan en antydan till ökad aggrekanasaktivitet sågs i mekaniskt skadat brosk som odlades tillsammans med ledkapsel. I mekaniskt skadat brosk som behandlades med cytokin sågs mycket kraftig aggrekanasaktivitet, men ingen MMP-aktivitet.

Denna avhandling belyser en del processer som skulle kunna ha betydelse för utvecklingen av artros efter en allvarlig knäskada och speciellt efter en främre korsbandsskada. Sammantaget stärker den antagandet att traumat över ben och brosk som sker i samband med att en främre korsbandsskada uppkommer kan ha stor betydelse för risken att utveckla post-traumatisk artros.

Introduction

Preface

Like many diseases, the manifest disease and pathogenesis of osteoarthritis (OA) are multidimensional. The dimensions of OA range from clinical symptoms and macroscopic features of disease through biomechanics to microscopic events at cell, extracellular matrix and molecular level. An increasing amount of knowledge is starting to bridge these dimensions, but there are still many large holes to fill, in order better to understand the disease.

The main advantage of post-traumatic OA from the scientist's perspective is that the time of disease onset is known and the progression of the disease is relatively rapid compared with non-traumatic OA. One of the major drawbacks from the patients' perspective is that they are affected by the disease at a young age.

During my time as a PhD student, I have tried better to understand why and through which processes a severe knee injury can lead to post-traumatic OA. This knowledge is crucial in order to understand the disease and to be able to construct viable treatment options and advice for subjects with severe knee injuries. The main hypothesis underlying the present thesis was that the impact on cartilage, bone and soft tissues of the knee, inflicted at the time of injury, plays an essential role when it comes to the future risk of developing post-traumatic OA. The strength of the present thesis is that, via the papers in the study, it links different clinical parameters and molecular mechanisms that may be important for posttraumatic OA development.

List of studies

- I. **Swärd P**, Kostogiannis I, Neuman P, Von Porat A, Boegard T, Roos H. Differences in the radiological characteristics between post-traumatic and non-traumatic knee osteoarthritis. *Scand J Med Sci Sports*. 2010;20(5):731-739.
- II. Swärd P, Fridén T, Boegard T, Kostogiannis I, Neuman P, Roos H. Association between varus alignment and post-traumatic osteoarthritis after anterior cruciate ligament injury. *Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc.* 2013;21(9):2040-2047.
- III. Swärd P, Frobell R, Englund M, Roos H, Struglics A. Cartilage and bone markers and inflammatory cytokines are increased in synovial fluid in the acute phase of knee injury (hemarthrosis)--a cross-sectional analysis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2012;20(11):1302-1308.
- IV. Swärd P, Struglics A, Englund M, Roos H, Frobell R. Soft tissue knee injury with concomitant osteochondral fracture is associated with higher degree of acute joint inflammation. *Am J Sports Med.* Published online March 24, 2014. DOI: 10.1177/0363546514524924.
- V. **Swärd P**, Hansson M, Lohmander SL, Wang Y, Grodzinsky A, Struglics A. Evidence of increased protease activity in mechanically injured cartilage co-cultured with joint capsule. *Manuscript*.

Abbreviations

ACL	Anterior cruciate ligament
ADAMTS	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs
BMI	Body mass index
BSP	Bone sialoprotein
C2C	Newly formed epitope after cleavage of collagen at the type II
	collagen primary cleavage site
COMP	Cartilage oligomeric matrix protein
CRP	C-reactive protein
CS	Chondrotin sulphate
DAMP	Damage-associated molecular patterns
ECM	Extracellular matrix
HA	Hyaluronan
KS	Keratan sulphate
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
OA	Osteoarthritis
OCL	Osteocalcin
OPN	Osteopontin
PF	Patellofemoral
sGAG	Sulphated glycosaminoglycan
SPARC	secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine
TGF-β	Tumour growth factor-β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloprotease
TNF-α	Tumour necrosis factor-α
TF	Tibiofemoral

Background

The knee joint

The knee joint is located between the two other joints of the lower limb; the hip and the ankle. The proximal end of the tibia and the distal end of the femur form the medial and lateral tibiofemoral compartments. The patella and the anterior part of the distal femur form the patellofemoral joint. Together, these joints form the knee joint. High demands are imposed on the knee joint and it has several functions which are essential for human beings to walk, run and jump. Primarily, it enables flexion-extension of the lower limb in the sagittal plane. In extension, full or close to full, the knee must be able to withstand the strong forces imposed on the knee by gravity. In flexion, rotation at the knee enables the leg to position the foot before placement. Small movements in the varus/valgus direction are also possible at the knee joint but only when the knee is flexed. Joint stability during movement is attained by the shape of the articular surfaces, the collateral and cruciate ligaments, the menisci and tendons and muscles crossing the knee joint (Figure 1) [1].

The anterior cruciate ligament

The anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) has two functional bundles which connect the femur and the tibia; the anteromedial and the posterolateral bundles, named after their insertion sites on the tibia (Figure 2). These bundles bridge the posteromedial aspect of the lateral condyle and the medial tibial plateau where they insert next to and anterior to the tibial spines. The ACL has an intra-articular location, but it is separated from the synovial fluid by a synovial lining. The main blood supply originates from the femur and specifically from the central geniculate artery [2, 3]. Pacinian corpuscles, Golgi tendon organs and Ruffini endings are mechanoreceptors present in the ACL which contribute to the proprioceptive sense [4]. The extracellular matrix (ECM) of the ACL contains collagen types I, II, III and V, elastin and proteoglycans. The tensile properties of the ACL are mainly related to bundles of collagen type I and cross-linking of these [5, 6]. In the normal ACL, fibroblasts reside along collagen bundles and are important for normal ligament turnover. Moreover, cells with progenitor potential are present [6]. The function of the ACL is to provide tibiofemoral joint stability in anterior-posterior translation and in internal-external rotation [7]. The ACL also restrains movements in the varus-valgus direction. The anteromedial and posterolateral bundles of the ACL act in synergy to stabilise the knee joint through its entire range of motion. In flexion, the anteriomedial bundle is tauter; in extension, the posterolateral bundle is tauter [3]. The combination of valgus and internal rotation of the tibia has been shown to increase ACL strain more than either motion alone [8].



Figure 1. Posterior view of the left knee showing the anterior and posterior cruciate ligaments and the menisci. The image which is from the 20th US edition of Gray's Anatomy of the Human Body was originally published in 1918 and has been transferred into the public domain.



Figure 2. Schematic drawing of the double-bundle ACL anatomy. AM, anteromedial bundle; PL, posterolateral bundle. Published with kind permission. © C. Kartus.

Anterior cruciate ligament tears

In Sweden, football (soccer) is the most common activity associated with ACL injury for both men and women. The second most common activity associated with ACL injury is downhill skiing for women and floorball for men (www.aclregister.nu). The incidence of ACL tears was shown to be 81 per 100,000 subjects aged between 10 and 64 years [9]. Based on these numbers, some 6,000 ACL injuries occur in the Swedish population every year, of which ~3,000 ACLs are surgically reconstructed. The indications for ACL reconstruction in Sweden are symptoms of instability and the failure of conservative treatment (www.aclregister.nu). In the USA, approximately 200,000 ACL reconstructions

are performed every year [10]. Women are known to be more susceptible to ACL rupture compared with men, and are injured at a younger age [11, 12]. Anatomic, neuromuscular and hormonal variations between men and women have been proposed to explain this observed difference [13-16]. From the individual's perspective, the injury may, in the short term, lead to knee dysfunction and an inability to continue sports participation at the same level as pre-injury. In a recent review, it was summarised that, although normal to nearly normal knee function was regained in most ACL-reconstructed individuals, a relatively small number of individuals returned to their pre-injury activity level and competitive sports [17]. Psychological factors, including fear, lifestyle changes and personality, have an impact on why subjects do not return to their pre-injury sports activity after ACL reconstruction [18]. In professional sports, the return to play after ACL injury is much greater and Waldén et al. [12] reported that 94% of elite level football players returned to training within 10 months and that 89% participated in a match within 12 months after ACL reconstruction.

An ACL tear also leads to a high risk of developing OA of the injured knee at a young age [19-22]. ACL re-injury/graft rupture and the high risk of contralateral ACL injury are other important issues that require consideration when advising an individual to return to sport [23]. In a reasonably sized study, in terms of the queries tested, it was reported that 4.5% sustained a graft rupture and 7.5% sustained a contralateral ACL injury during the five-year follow-up after ACL reconstruction. Importantly, 29% of individuals younger than 20 at the time of the first ACL injury sustained an ACL injury to either knee during follow-up [24]. Taken as a whole, the high risk of ACL injury, specifically in young women, and future complications related to the injury are regarded as one of the major problems in sports medicine [25].

Anterior cruciate ligament injury mechanism

In the literature, the ACL injury mechanism is most often described as contact or non-contact. This definition may be misleading, as most ACL injuries that occur in contact sports are associated with a "non-contact" mechanism [26, 27]. A contact ACL injury mechanism typically occurs in American football, when the subject plants his foot and, at the same time, is tackled at the knee from the lateral side, resulting in a valgus collapse of the knee joint. The injury panorama of this injury mechanism often results in lesions of the ACL, medial collateral ligament and medial meniscus, referred to as the O'Donoghue triad [28]. Several mechanisms that may result in a non-contact ACL injury have been proposed. Most typically, the injury occurs as the athlete plants the foot with the knee in slight flexion and

during landing, side-cutting or deceleration. In this position, knee valgus motion, internal rotation of the tibia towards the femur or external rotation of the femur towards the tibia, combined with anterior translation of the tibia, ensue. This leads to high strain in and the rupture of the ACL [26, 29, 30]. This ACL injury mechanism, also known as the pivot shift injury, induces simultaneous lateral tibiofemoral compartment subluxation and combined compressive force, explaining the typical location of bone marrow lesions, on the posterolateral tibial plateau and the midportion of the lateral femoral condyle [2]. The impact site on the lateral femur is related to the degree of knee flexion at the time of injury. With the knee in a high degree of flexion or extension at the time of injury, the lateral tibia impacts the posterior or the anterior part of the lateral femur respectively [2].

Differences in the ACL injury mechanism between the sexes have been described. Investigating basketball players, Krosshaug et al. [31] reported that a valgus collapse in association with the injury was five times more common in women. A lower incidence of meniscal tears associated with the ACL injury has been indicated in women [32], which could be related to differences in injury mechanism between men and women. Furthermore, besides from showing that young age was associated with more traumatic bone marrow lesions on the lateral femoral condyle, it was in a study by Bisson et al. [33] demonstrated that male gender associated with mild traumatic bone marrow lesions on the lateral femoral condyle and tibial plateau. Male gender also associated with moderate and severe traumatic bone marrow lesions on the lateral femoral condyle. These findings may further highlight gender-specific differences in ACL injury mechanism and as a result, factors other than valgus collapse may be of greater importance for compressive injuries to soft tissues and bone associated with ACL injury. Even if they were not investigating bone-bruise patterns, Fridén et al. [27] proposed that the degree of compression between the tibia and femur was related to weightbearing or non-weight-bearing at the time of injury. A non-weight-bearing ACL injury mechanism, which typically occurs when skiing, was associated with larger numbers of intact menisci, indicating a lower degree of joint compression in this type of injury [27]. In a large-scale investigation of 525 subjects, younger age and not jumping at the time of ACL injury were associated with a bone bruise [34]. Jumping at the time of injury may indicate a non-weight-bearing ACL injury and these findings are thus in line with the hypothesis put forward by Fridén et al. [27].

Knee injury panorama

An acute knee injury with joint effusion and intra-articular bleeding (hemarthrosis) suggests significant intra-articular pathology. Anterior cruciate ligament tears, meniscal lesions and lesions of the medial collateral ligament are common after rotational knee injury [9]. In subjects (n=1,145) with an acute knee injury in whom MRI (magnetic resonance imaging) was performed a median of eight days after the trauma, 52% had sustained an ACL injury, 17% had transient patellar dislocation and 28% a medial collateral ligament tear. Among the ACL-injured subjects, 55% also sustained an associated meniscal tear [35]. These findings are in line with previous investigations of smaller study samples, regarding both the panorama of knee injuries [9] and the high prevalence of meniscal tears concomitant to the ACL tear [36, 37]. The majority of studies and the historical view indicate that lateral meniscal tears are more common than medial tears after ACL injury [36, 38-40]. However, recent studies have described a similar prevalence or even more medial than lateral meniscal tears in association with ACL injury [9, 37]. In a recent MRI-based study, the most common meniscal tear associated with the ACL injury was a longitudinal tear of the posterior horn of the medial meniscus [9]. The authors speculate that these tears may be difficult to detect during routine arthroscopy and could progress and produce symptoms in an unstable knee [9]. Isolated or multiple articular cartilage lesions are also a frequent finding after ACL injury [32, 41]. Posterolateral knee injury, which is relatively uncommon, is an important diagnosis which, if left untreated, can lead to severe knee disability [42, 43].

In almost all individuals, an acute knee injury also leads to a collision between the tibial plateau and the femoral condyle, as visualised using MRI by traumatic bone marrow lesions at the site of impact. These have been described as "fingerprints of injury mechanism", or "kissing lesions" and have been detected in almost all subjects who have suffered an ACL tear [2, 44, 45]. Typically, the collision occurs in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment between the non-articular posterolateral tibial plateau and the articular midportion of the lateral femoral condyle [44, 46, 47]. Depending on the injury mechanism, other locations of traumatic bone marrow lesions may be present (see above). Traumatic bone marrow lesions in the medial tibiofemoral compartment have been ascribed to the contre-coup mechanism, but they are less common and are mostly associated with bone marrow lesions of the lateral compartment [48]. It should be noted that medial bone marrow lesions are commonly found in subjects with a combined ACL and posterolateral knee injury [42].

At the site of impact between tibia and femur, more than half of ACL-injured subjects also sustain a traumatic osteochondral fracture [39, 44]. These fractures

are prevalent in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment overlying the traumatic bone marrow lesions and present with or without the disruption of cortical bone (Figure 3). They indicate strong impact forces between the tibia and femur at the time of injury and correlate with the size of bone marrow lesions [39, 44] and the likelihood of associated meniscal tears [39]. The traumatic bone marrow lesions represent trabecular fractures, bleeding or oedema. In one study, human biopsy samples of cartilage and subchondral bone overlying MRI-detected bone bruises were obtained at a median of 4.5 weeks after ACL injury. Glycosaminoglycan loss and chondrocyte necrosis were observed in the overlying cartilage. In the subchondral bone, osteocyte necrosis was indicated by empty lacunae [49].



Figure 3. Magnetic resonance images of knees used in Study IV. Upper row: proton density T2-weighted sequence and bottom row: short-tau inversion recovery (STIR) sequence of knees with osteochondral fractures with disrupted cortical bone in the femur (yellow arrow) and without disrupted cortical bone in the femur (blue arrow). The STIR sequence images (bottom row) clearly show the surrounding post-traumatic bone marrow lesion of the osteochondral fracture above, indicating traumatic impact forces (white arrows).

Osteoarthritis

Knee osteoarthritis

Knee OA is more common in women and knee OA incidence and prevalence increase with increasing age. Knee OA may be isolated, or may be part of generalised OA, defined as affecting the hands and at least one large joint, or affecting three or more joints [50]. Obesity has been shown to be a highly important and modifiable risk factor for OA development and progression [51]. Adding to the complexity of the disease, the metabolic syndrome and two of its components, central obesity and hypertension, are also associated with the incidence of severe knee OA requiring total knee replacement, independent of body mass index (BMI) [52]. Systemically increased factors derived from visceral adipose tissue have been shown to increase the risk of hand OA and may also be involved in the pathogenesis of knee OA [53]. Today, knee OA is a leading cause of global disability. The ageing population and increasing rates of obesity worldwide forecast an increasing need for health care related to knee OA in the future [54]. Symptomatic knee OA affects almost 7% of the US population 50-84 years of age, of which approximately 50% are obese [55]. Petersson et al. [56] reported that 1.5% of individuals 35-54 years of age, living in a district in the southwest of Sweden, had symptomatic non-traumatic knee OA. The rates of radiographic knee OA are much higher. In the elderly (over the age of 60 to 75), the prevalence of radiographic OA was shown to be between 31-45% [57-59]. There may, furthermore, be ethnic differences regarding knee OA location. For example, in the Chinese, the lateral tibiofemoral compartment is affected more often than in Caucasians [60]. Importantly, OA has a large impact on quality of life and was estimated to reduce the remaining quality-adjusted life expectancy in persons with knee OA by 10-13%, with the higher rates applying to younger individuals with knee OA [55]. As indication of the increasing incidence of symptomatic knee OA, the numbers of total knee replacements performed in the USA more than doubled from 1999-2008. In younger individuals (45- to 64-yearolds), the numbers more than tripled. In addition to increasing obesity rates, this increase may be related to wider indications of surgery and increasing numbers of severe knee injuries in young individuals [61]. An increased understanding of knee

OA risk factors, how best to treat symptoms and find treatments that can prevent or stop OA progression is needed.

Apart from age, gender and obesity, also genetics, knee injuries and abnormal joint loading influence the risk of developing knee OA. Seven genetic variants associated with knee OA or total knee replacement have been identified [62] and 39% of the risk of developing knee OA has been attributed to genetic variation [63]. The possibility that abnormal, or overly high loads can lead to progressive cartilage degradation was indicated by the increased risk of knee OA in occupations where there is frequent heavy lifting, kneeling or squatting [64]. Moreover, malalignment has been shown to increase the risk of OA [65, 66] and elderly male former elite athletes engaged in non-impact sports have an increased knee OA prevalence after adjustment for previous knee injury, age, gender, BMI and occupational load [67].

Post-traumatic knee osteoarthritis

As things stand, some 12% of the total OA burden has been ascribed to posttraumatic OA [68]. It has been proposed that the incidence of post-traumatic OA is increasing in relation to increased numbers of individuals engaged in sports and over the last few decades, the increase in sports participation has been substantial. In the USA, the number of women participating in high-school sports has roughly doubled every decade [46]. Instability is as a major cause of disability after ACL injury [69]. This has influenced the treatment of ACL injuries and ACL reconstruction has been a preferred treatment, with the aim of re-establishing knee stability [70]. However, no differences in the long-term risk of OA development have been shown between ACL-injured subjects treated with or without primary ACL reconstruction in recent systematic literature analyses and from the early results of a randomised controlled trial [19, 21, 71, 72]. Associated injuries may be of greater significance for the long-term prognosis. In a review by Øiestad et al. [21], it was concluded that the prevalence of knee OA after an isolated ACL injury was 0-13%. The prevalence of knee OA after an ACL tear with an associated meniscal tear was 21-48% [21].

Differences in the classifications relating to the radiographic grading of OA between different studies have led to difficulties juxtaposing the current knowledge [21, 71]. In a recent meta-analysis only including studies using the Kellgren & Lawrence classification and with a minimum follow-up time of 10 years, it was shown that non-ACL-reconstructed knees had an increased relative risk of developing any grade of OA. However, the relative risk of progression to moderate or severe OA tended to be higher in ACL-reconstructed knees [71].

Cartilage

The proximal tibia, the distal femur and the patella are covered by a thin layer of hyaline cartilage, forming the articular surfaces of the knee joint. Normal cartilage is avascular, aneural, with no lymphatic vessels and the only cell type found in cartilage, the chondrocyte, obtains nutrition mainly from passive diffusion from synovial capillaries (see below). In normal articular knee cartilage, only 1-3% of the wet weight tissue consists of chondrocytes [51]. Some 70% of the tissue consists of water, whereas 20% of the wet weight is collagen (mainly type II; the fibril-forming collagen of cartilage) and approximately 5% is aggrecan [73]. The main function of cartilage is to distribute the load applied to the underlying bone and to allow movements of low friction at the knee joint [74]. These functional properties are preserved by the chondrocytes which maintain cartilage hemostasis by inducing proteolysis and the production of non-fibrillar collagens, proteoglycans and other non-collagenous molecules. as a reaction to biomechanical and biochemical stimuli [75].

The capacity of cartilage to absorb and distribute high loads at a specific site is related to the composition of cartilage ECM and specifically to the integrity of the fibrillar collagen and aggrecan networks that are present. Aggrecan forms large aggregates by binding to hyluronan and is substituted by negatively charged sulphated glycosaminoglycans (sGAGs) [76]. The high negative charge attracts counter-ions and, by diffusion, water is attracted to the aggrecan molecule. This results in a swelling pressure in cartilage which is retained by the tensile strength of the collagen fibril network and gives cartilage the ability to withstand compressive loads [76]. The fibrillar collagen and aggrecan networks, on the other hand, are dependent on other molecules present in the cartilage ECM, such as cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP), non-fibrillar type IX collagen and members of the small leucin-rich repeat protein family. Important functions of these molecules include the regulation of collagen fibril formation and other collagen networks in the cartilage ECM. They also enable interactions between different ECM molecules and interactions with the chondrocytes [76-78].

Type II collagen has a long half-life (about 100 years) and its degradation is believed to be practically irreversible [79]. Several collagenases are able to cleave fibrillar type II collagen, of which the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-13 is believed to be the most important [51, 77]. Cleavage at the primary cleavage site in type II collagen by these collagenases generates two fragments, of which one can be detected by a neo-epitope antibody (against the newly formed epitope; named C2C). Interestingly, increased synovial fluid concentrations of C2C are associated with pre-radiographic cartilage lesions in the knee joint of ACL-injured subjects [80]. Aggrecan has a more rapid turnover. The cleavage of aggrecan can

be mediated by several proteolytic enzymes (Figure 4). The aggrecanases-1 and -2 (ADAMTS-4 and -5; a disintegrin and metalloproteinase with thrombospondin motifs), and, secondly, the MMPs are believed to be most important [81-84]. Another somewhat abundant protein in cartilage is COMP, which is believed to be important for the fibrillation of type II collagen in cartilage and for stabilising the collagen network in the adult cartilage. Its turnover is increased during the early progression of OA [77]. The turnover of COMP is also increased after an acute knee injury, as observed by increased synovial fluid concentrations from within one week of injury up to several years later [85].



Figure 4. Aggrecan is bound to hyaluronan (HA); an interaction stabilised by the link protein (L). Aggrecan is composed of three globular domains; G1 (N-terminal side), G2 and G3, an interglobular domain (IGD), one region rich in keratan sulphate (KS) and two regions rich in chondroitin sulphate (CS1 and CS2). Several enzymes have been shown *in vitro* to cleave aggrecan in the IGD domain [81, 83, 84, 86]. Aggrecanase cleavage at the TEGE373↓374ARGS site and MMP cleavage at the IPEN341↓342FFGV site have been demonstrated in humans [81, 83, 84, 87-89]. Suggestive of rapid aggrecan turnover by increased aggrecanase activity, increased concentrations of ARGS-SELE and ARGS-CS1 fragments have been shown in the synovial fluid of subjects with acute knee injury. Moreover, increased aggrecanase cleavage in the aggrecan CS2 domain generates GRGT-G3, GLGS-G3 and AGEG-G3 fragments [88]. Figure reproduced with the kind permission of Dr. André Struglics.

Cartilage can be divided into regions of different ECM organisation and molecular content, as well as chondrocyte organisation, shape and function throughout the depth of cartilage: the superficial (tangential), central (intermediate) and deep (radial) layers of cartilage [90]. The transitional zone between the cartilage and subchondral bone is called the calcified cartilage layer and it creates a barrier and

attachment site between cartilage and subchondral bone [91]. Detected differences in cell appearance and function between the different layers of cartilage include the following. (1) The number of chondrocytes per cartilage volume is higher in the superficial zone compared with deeper layers and the chondrocytes appear flattened and are aligned horizontally parallel to the joint surface [92, 93]. The superficial zone chondrocytes, furthermore, produce lubricin, as opposed to the deeper layers [94]. There is also a high content of collagen fibres running parallel to the cartilage surface, although there may be differences between weight- and non-weight-bearing regions (see below) [7]. (2) In the central layer, the chondrocytes are rounder and the proteoglycan content is higher compared with the superficial or deep zones [92, 95]. (3) In the deep layer, the collagen fibres are thicker and round chondrocytes are aligned in columns [90, 92]. In addition to these depth-related differences, the cartilage ECM also differs depending on the proximity to the chondrocytes. With an increasing distance from the cells, ECM is classified as pericellular, territorial and interterritorial, with apparent differences in ECM organisation and function [77]. Mesenchymal progenitor cells, which could have the potential to regenerate focal cartilage defects, have been found in cartilage [96].

Different cartilage regions in the knee joint, furthermore, show differences in cell and ECM organisation attributed to the different mechanical loads between regions. Rolauffs et al. [93] detected four distinct superficial zone chondrocyte patterns; strings, clusters, pairs and singles in the knee joint. Different joint surfaces of the knee were typically dominated by only one of these four patterns. The predominant pattern of the femoral condyles, meniscus-covered medial tibial plateau and patellofemoral grove were strings, pairs and clusters respectively. Central regions of the tibial plateau are associated with a less organised collagen fibre orientation, which could be a consequence of high compressive loads over this region. On the other hand, peripheral regions of the tibial plateau (i.e. beneath the menisci) are associated with a more organised collagen fibre orientation more parallel to the surface. This could be a consequence of the high tensile stresses to which these regions are exposed [7, 97].

Cartilage and knee osteoarthritis

One of the main features of knee OA is the loss of articular cartilage. Over the years, much of the research on OA has therefore focused on the events involved in cartilage degradation. At cartilage level, OA development is associated with cartilage fissures, swelling, chondrocyte hypertrophy and phenotypic changes in the chondrocytes. As the disease progresses, cartilage thinning and the exposure of subchondral bone occur [51]. Several important clues to the way cartilage is affected during the different stages of OA development and progression have been

identified during the past few decades. Proteases able to degrade cartilage constituents have been highlighted and MMP-13 and ADAMTS-5 in particular [79]. In models using genetically modified mice, deleting the catalytic domain of ADAMTS -5 protects the cartilage from degradation [98]. Furthermore, knock-ininduced resistance to cleavage at the wild type ARGS↓TEGE-aggrecan site significantly protects the cartilage from degradation [99]. Induced MMP-13 deficiency also inhibits cartilage degradation [100]. Underlining the complexity of the post-traumatic OA mouse model, at least 29 different genetic modifications have been shown to be protective of cartilage erosion and 19 have been shown to increase cartilage erosion in different OA models [101]. Human OA is characterised by a whole joint disease and inducing MMP-13 deficiency did not lead to reduced osteophyte formation in a mouse OA model [100]. Many other molecular mechanisms have been implicated in OA pathogenesis and recent studies have, for example, indicated important roles for tumour growth factor (TGF)- β and complement activation in OA pathogenesis [51, 102, 103].

Cartilage and post-traumatic knee osteoarthritis

Acute knee injuries are associated with radiographic OA progression and joint space narrowing indicative of cartilage erosion (see above). One major limitation of using radiographic signs to detect cartilage injury is the relatively long time from injury until these changes occur and the fact that changes indicating cartilage loss, such as joint space narrowing, may be related to other factors, such as the integrity of the menisci [104]. Recent advances in MRI have led to an increase in our understanding of early post-traumatic changes in cartilage which may precede post-traumatic OA development [105, 106]. Compositional cartilage MRI (delayed gadolinium-enhanced imaging of cartilage (dGEMRIC), T1-rho and T2 mapping) can depict information on the composition of cartilage. Whereas dGEMRIC and T1rho may distinguish changes in cartilage proteoglycan content, T2 mapping relates to the cartilage water content and indirectly to type II collagen content and orientation [105]. Before the development of these techniques, cartilage biopsies revealed important information on changes in cartilage composition after ACL injury. Suggestive of collagenase activity, biopsy samples acquired from the nonweight-bearing articular cartilage of the intercondylar notch show collagen denaturation and the cleavage of type II collagen less than and more than one year post-ACL rupture [107, 108]. Interestingly, an increase in cartilage GAG content was also observed [107]. At time points after one year, lower type II collagen content in the cartilage of the intercondylar notch was observed [108]. Biopsy of the cartilage adjacent to bone marrow lesions on the lateral femur showed a decrease in GAG in median 4.5 weeks after ACL injury [49]. In line with these findings, Li et al. [109] showed elevated T1rho values (indicating GAG loss), of the posterolateral tibial cartilage in ACL-injured knees at baseline. Tiderius et al. [110] showed that the estimated GAG content (assessed by dGEMRIC) was lower in both the medial and lateral femoral cartilage within mean three weeks after ACL injury. At two-year follow-up, recovery but not normalization, was observed in the lateral tibifemoral compartment whereas the estimated GAG decrease in the medial tibiofemoral compartment seemed to remain at a constant low level [111]. Potter et al. [41] demonstrated MRI-detectable cartilage lesions at the time of ACL injury in 100% of patients, primarily affecting the lateral tibial plateau and secondly the lateral femur. A progressive increase in cartilage lesion severity was observed with time lapsed after injury [41].

Synovium

The non-bony cavity of the knee joint is enclosed by the synovium. It consists of the intima, a continuous layer of macrophages and specialised synovial fibroblasts (synoviocytes), and the subintima, which is the underlying tissue. The subintima is a fibrous ECM where blood and lymph vessels, nerves, stationary fibroblasts and immune cells reside. The synovial fibroblasts have a distinct phenotype. Of particular importance to the joint environment, they experience high activity from an enzyme which converts UDP-glucose to UDP-glucoronate, an essential component for hyaluronan synthesis [112]. Furthermore, synovial fibroblasts, along with superficial zone chondrocytes, produce lubricin, which is particularly essential for the boundary lubrication of cartilage [113].

The main route for nutritional access to the avascular cartilage is passive diffusion from capillaries of the synovium. They are located in the subintima, just beneath the intima. The capillary endothelial cells form a size-selective barrier allowing the flux of water, nutrients and proteins into the joint cavity. The synovial fluid-toplasma ratio of plasma proteins decreases as the molecular radius of the protein increases [114]. Importantly, the cells of the intima are loosely connected and there is no basement membrane. As a result, the interstitial fluid of the synovium and the synovial fluid form an unbroken continuum [115]. The efflux of molecules from the knee joint occurs through drainage via the lymph vessels for molecules ~ 2 to ~ 10 nm in size. Smaller molecules, for example, some cytokines, can also access the circulation via diffusion into capillaries. Larger molecules, such as hyaluronan and large aggrecan fragments, may be restricted from efflux via the lymph vessels. At high intra-joint pressures, these large molecules could create a filter cake, increasing the outflow resistance across the synovium and limiting fluid escape from the joint [115, 116]. In the event of synovitis (see below), the size selectivity of the endothelial barrier is decreased, leading to an increase in the influx of large proteins and joint effusion [117].

The meniscus

The meniscus is a crescent-shaped fibro-cartilaginous tissue rich in collagen type I. The molecular constituents of the meniscus are quite different from those of cartilage. For example, compared with knee-joint hyaline cartilage, the collagen fibrils are thin, the amount of aggrecan and chondroadherin is low, whereas the amount of asporin is high [118]. The tensile strength and function of the menisci are related to the circumferentially oriented collagen fibres woven together with radial fibres [119]. In principle, the menisci play an important role in reducing cartilage loads by distributing the load between the femur and tibia over a larger area. Compromising this function, such as in the case of meniscus tear or meniscectomy, leads to increased peak and average loads over the tibiofemoral cartilage [120] and a high risk of OA [19, 121, 122]. The increased loading of tibial cartilage is closely related to both the amount and type of medial meniscectomy (anterior, posterior or longitudinal) [120].

The long-term outcome of ACL injury is closely related to the integrity of the menisci (see above). However, subjects with an ACL tear (isolated or combined) present with the first radiographic signs (joint space narrowing) of cartilage degradation approximately ten years prior to subjects with an isolated meniscal tear [123]. Not only the status of the menisci at index injury but also the risk of secondary meniscus injury are important for the risk of future tibiofemoral OA after ACL injury [124]. Meniscus injury also appears to be important when it comes to developing patellofemoral OA [125, 126]. The menisci and specifically the medial meniscus may contribute to joint stability and restrain anterior translation in the ACL-deficient knee but not in knees with an intact ACL [127, 128]. This renders the medial meniscus susceptible to tears in the ACL-deficient knee and this has been advocated as an important reason to perform ACL reconstructive surgery [129].

Bone

The bony parts of the knee joint, the femur, tibia and patella, have a dense and compact outer structure, the cortical bone, and a porous inner structure, the trabecular bone. In the knee, trabecular bone and cartilage are separated by the

osteochondral plate; a thin layer of cortical bone (the subchondral plate) and the calcified cartilage layer [130].

Bone is a metabolically active tissue. After the peak bone mass has been reached at the age of 20-30 years, bone remodelling is characterised by a higher bone resorption rate compared with the corresponding bone formation. This results in a net loss of bone mass [131].

Bone and knee osteoarthritis

Bone-related alterations associated with OA include bone marrow lesions, osteophytes, subchondral bone sclerosis, cyst formation, tidemark duplication and thickening of the calcified cartilage layer [130]. Microcracks through the osteochondral plate, ingrowth of nerves, vessels and endothelial proliferation within the non-calcified cartilage are associated with OA and could increase cross-talk between cartilage and bone [132, 133]. These changes, in combination with changes in bone homeostasis, may induce cartilage erosion [103, 133, 134]. An important role for increased TGF- β signalling in the subchondral bone has been suggested [103].

It is unknown whether pathological changes in bone precede or follow osteoarthritic changes at molecular level in cartilage. The parallel progression of disease in both tissues is, however, a likely scenario. This was illustrated by the increase in both serum bone sialoprotein (BSP) and COMP in subjects with chronic knee pain who went on to develop early radiographic knee OA [135]. The serum concentrations of these proteins were, furthermore, higher in subjects with bone scan abnormalities [136]. Even though these studies indicate parallel alterations in cartilage and bone homeostasis during the course of early OA development, abnormal alterations in bone typically precede those in cartilage, as visualised by different imaging techniques. For example, osteophyte formation and scintigraphic changes indicative of increased bone turnover typically occur before joint space narrowing [137]. Changes in bone shape, furthermore, predict the onset of radiographic OA [138]. These differences could, however, be related to the higher metabolic rate in bone compared with that in cartilage and the more rapid response of bone to changes in joint load.

Bone and post-traumatic knee osteoarthritis

In line with OA seen in subjects without previous knee joint trauma, early signs of bone disturbance are also evident after severe knee injury. Bone mineral loss in the knee of ACL-injured subjects was demonstrated after ACL reconstruction [139].

In a study population of 121 subjects followed prospectively after ACL injury, it was recently shown that bone shape changes of femur, tibia and patella could be detected by advanced analyses methods applied to sequential MR images already after two years. Preliminary analyses suggest that these changes could relate to osteophyte formation. [140]. In the same study population, changes in articular bone curvature were observed within three months of the injury [141]. Buckland-Wright et al. [142] demonstrated thickening of horizontal trabeculae and a high prevalence of osteophytes in the medial tibial compartment within four years of ACL injury. Taken as a whole, these findings indicate changes in bone metabolism and remodelling at an early stage after ACL injury.

In subjects with an acute knee injury, cartilage and bone involvement occurs instantly, as the tibia and femur collide, resulting in cartilage injury, bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures [41, 44, 49, 143]. Traumatic bone marrow lesions gradually decrease in size, but fewer than half resolve within one year after the injury [144]. In most studies, their presence has <u>not</u> been shown to correlate to clinical outcome [34, 145]. Anterior cruciate ligament-injured subjects with a bone marrow lesion of the medial tibia, a trabecular fracture of the lateral femur or a more severe intra-articular lesion, i.e. osteochondral fracture, may, however, have poorer clinical outcome scores [39, 146, 147]. Johnson et al. [146] observed that a trabecular fracture, by the authors termed a geographical bone bruise [47], on the lateral femur was associated with the increased size and duration of effusion, a time-lag in time until the normal range of motion was regained and increased pain in the acute phase of ACL injury.

Inflammation

Inflammation may play an important role in the pathogenesis of OA [148]. Indicative of this, synovitis, which has been shown to be reflected by increased plasma C-reactive protein (CRP) concentrations, is a prevalent finding in OA [149]. More importantly and underlining the importance of inflammation in OA, synovitis has been shown to be prognostic of MRI detected cartilage loss in subjects without radiographic OA [150]. Increased numbers of several inflammatory cell populations have been detected in the OA joint capsule, of which macrophages, T cells and mast cells are most abundant [151]. Of particular interest, mast cells have been found at higher cell numbers in OA compared to RA joint capsule and their mediators (histamine and tryptase) at higher concentrations in the synovial fluid in subjects with OA compared to those with RA [151, 152]. Inflammatory and synovial cells may contribute to joint synovial and cartilage

inflammation by producing cytokines, prostaglandins and proteases, such as neutrophil elastase, aggrecanases and different MMPs [153-157].

Proteases, which are essential for the degradation of cartilage molecules, can be induced and activated by inflammatory molecules. Numerous in vitro studies have demonstrated aggrecanase and MMP activity (including collagenase activity) and injurious effects on cartilage structure and chondrocyte function (survival) in the presence of pro-inflammatory cytokines [158-161]. In fact, adding tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α to a cartilage explant *in vitro* can lead to the total dissolution of the explant mediated through the upregulation of proteases in the chondrocytes [74]. In vivo, in a mouse model, Malfait et al. [162] showed that the intra-articular administration of TNF- α led to the rapid degradation of the cartilage aggrecan by the induction of aggrecanase activity. The aggrecan degradation was reversible and these findings are in line with the work of others [163]. Typically, collagen degradation, which is irreversible in *in vitro* cartilage explant systems, does not begin until after several days of inflammatory stimuli and not until most aggrecan molecules have been degraded [79]. Further emphasising the protective role of intact aggrecan in the in vitro cartilage explant system, aggrecanase inhibition not only prevented interleukin (IL)-1-induced aggrecan degradation but also prevented collagen degradation [160]. However, in more complex systems, increased collagen degradation may parallel that of aggrecan. In a horse model, increased synovial fluid concentrations of the C2C epitope were detected within 24 hours of lipopolysaccharide-induced joint inflammation, suggestive of increased collagenase activity [164]. Also suggesting increased protease activity, crosslinked peptides of type II collagen were detected in the synovial fluid early in the acute phase of knee injury [165].

The fact that a "soup" of several pro-inflammatory cytokines or molecules leads to more rapid cartilage degradation was furthermore observed when human and bovine cartilage explants were exposed to both interleukin (IL)-1 and plasminogen compared with when explants were exposed to IL-1 alone [166]. Moreover, the combined effects of TNF- α , IL-6 and sIL-6r on human and bovine knee cartilage explants caused more GAG release than the individual cytokines alone [161].

Inflammation may also mediate pain in OA. In a recent meta-analysis, it was concluded that subjects with OA have modestly higher circulating CRP levels than controls and that there is great variation in the observed associations between different studies [167]. Circulating CRP levels appeared to be associated more with symptoms than radiographic OA changes [167]. Moreover, synovitis is associated with symptoms including pain [168]. The fact that intra-articular corticosteroids supplied to osteoarthritic joints lead to a rapid reduction in joint pain further implicates inflammation as an important mediator of pain in OA [169]. Interestingly, this effect may be related to a reduction in synovial
inflammation [169]. It has, however, not been demonstrated that, by inhibiting knee joint inflammation, corticosteroids are able to reduce cartilage degradation. In a randomised controlled trial, investigating intra-articular hyaluronan treatment and intra-articular hyaluronan + corticosteroid treatment, no significant MRI progression of OA was observed in either study group during the one-year course of the study [170].

Prostaglandins may contribute to sustained joint inflammation and pain. As proof of this, subjects waiting for total knee replacement displayed a dose-responsive decrease in knee synovial fluid concentrations of TNF- α , vascular endothelial growth factor and IL-6 after two weeks of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug treatment [171]. Pain and knee function improvements were also observed.

Molecules (intact or cleavage products) of cartilage ECM or yielded from chondrocytes are able to activate toll-like receptors and complement and thereby stimulate inflammation. It has been suggested that the inflammation associated with OA is mediated primarily through this mechanism [74, 102]. In subjects with OA who undergo total knee replacement, the symptoms are reduced after the operation, which could be related to the stopped release of cartilage molecules into the synovial fluid, leading to a reduced degree of synovial inflammation subsequent to the operation [74]. However, subjects with higher synovial fluid concentrations of inflammatory markers at the time of total knee replacement experience fewer improvements in pain outcomes following surgery, underpinning the importance of pathological hemostasis in joint tissues other than cartilage for the clinical symptoms associated with OA (for example, synovitis) [172].

Inflammation and post-traumatic knee OA

The trauma inflicted on joint tissues at the time of an acute knee injury initiates an immune response. This response may be exaggerated by bleeding into the joint and the degree of acute hemarthrosis may be important for both acute and chronic cartilage degradation by activating inflammatory pathways [173]. Typically, acute tissue injury leads to the release of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). These molecules, intact or proteolytically processed ECM molecules like biglycan, tenacin-C and hyaluronic acid fragments, and cell-associated molecules, such as high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) and uric acid are able to activate immune cells by binding to pattern recognition receptors, including toll-like receptors [174-176]. In response to this activation, the immune cells release a variety of different cytokines and chemokines that notify other cells, including macrophages and neutrophils, of ongoing tissue injury [177, 178]. In the acute phase of knee injury, these events can be monitored by analysing the synovial fluid. Rapid increases in synovial fluid concentrations of pro-inflammatory

cytokines and proteases such as elastase and MMP-3 have been observed [153, 179, 180]. At a later stage, T-cells that have been recruited to the site of injury, together with macrophages, may induce a state of chronic inflammation, depending on the present cytokine environment [178]. These courses of events after acute knee injury have not been extensively studied. However, clinical joint effusion and investigations of synovial fluid from acutely knee-injured subjects suggest an initial hyper-inflammatory state [146, 179-181]. Importantly, these events are controlled by anti-inflammatory cytokines and protease inhibitors which may maintain homeostasis during the pro-inflammatory stage and thus reduce the proteolytic activity in cartilage [166]. The fact that both IL-1Ra and the protease inhibitor, tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloprotease (TIMP)-1 are increased in the synovial fluid after acute knee injury indicates that this could be the case [179, 180, 182].

Underpinning the importance of inflammation in post-traumatic OA development, injections of corticosteroids into the joint of ACL-transected dogs during surgery and at different time points after surgery led to reduced osteophyte size and reduced histological severity of cartilage lesions [183]. IL-1ra administered intraarticularly to subjects with recent ACL injury, furthermore, led to a reduction in pain and knee functional limitations, but it is not known whether such treatment can inhibit OA progression after ACL injury [184].

Objectives

The overall objective of this thesis was to acquire a better understanding of how the initial impact, related to the trauma mechanism of acute knee injuries, may influence acute and chronic knee pathology.

Specific objectives

Study I

To investigate differences in the location of radiographic joint space narrowing and osteophytes of the knee in patients with and without a previous knee trauma

Study II

To investigate whether alignment of the contralateral uninjured knee is associated with post-traumatic OA of the injured knee 15 years after an ACL injury

Study III

To investigate differences in synovial fluid concentrations of cartilage and bone markers and pro-inflammatory cytokines between acutely injured knees (within one month after acute knee injury) and knees of healthy reference subjects

To study differences in concentrations with regard to time from injury to aspiration

Study IV

To investigate whether knees, after an acute soft tissue injury with an osteochondral fracture and specifically if also associated with disrupted cortical bone, have higher concentrations of cartilage and bone markers and pro-inflammatory cytokines than acutely injured knees without an osteochondral fracture

Study V

To investigate differences in the proteolytic degradation of aggrecan in bovine cartilage explants exposed to mechanical trauma, co-incubation with joint capsule or exogenous TNF- α treatment

Subjects

To address the questions in the present thesis, subjects from four distinctly different cohorts were included. Three of these cohorts have been used in previous investigations (**Studies I** and **II**) [20, 22, 27, 56, 124, 126]. In **Studies III** and **IV**, a convenience patient cohort was used. This cohort was related to an ongoing randomised controlled trial (RCT) (ISRCTN 84752559, http://www.controlled-trials.com) [185]. Seventy-nine of the 111 patients included in **Studies III** and **IV** were not included in the RCT for various reasons. In **Studies III** and **IV**, synovial fluid samples from ten knee-healthy individuals were used as reference. These samples were acquired and have been used in previous cross-sectional investigations [81, 165, 186, 187]. Details on all subjects used in the thesis can be found in **Studies I-IV** and an overview on the subjects is presented in Figures 5-8.

All injuries that occurred during organised soccer play in Sweden were recorded by an insurance company (Folksam) and this information was retrieved in a previous investigation [188].

\hat{U}

Nine hundred and thirty-seven subjects had recorded knee injuries. A questionnaire was sent to these subjects and hospital records were used to verify the preliminary diagnosis given in the questionnaire [188].

Seventeen per cent did not answer the questionnaire.



The number of ACL injuries identified was n=323 (232 men and 106 women).

Lost to follow-up n=149



Radiographically examined 12-14 years after the ACL injury in the course of two subsequent investigations [20, 22] n=189 (122 men and 67 women)

Radiographs from 12 subjects could not be retrieved and those from one subject could not be assessed. These subjects were lost to follow-up,



n=13.

Included in **Study 1** (post-traumatic cohort) n=176 (120 men and 56 women)

Figure 5. Flowchart detailing the inclusion of subjects and loss to follow-up in the post-traumatic cohort (Study I).

In 1990, 5,254 subjects between the ages of 35-54 were identified in a region in the southwest of Sweden using the central population register as part of a previous study. A questionnaire was sent to a randomly selected sample from this population (n=2,000), evenly distributed regarding age and gender [56].

147 subjects did not answer the questionnaire.



Of the 1,853 subjects who answered, chronic knee pain with a duration of > 3 months was reported in: n=279.

Lost to follow-up n=75

Agreed to undergo clinical, biochemical and radiographic examination in 1990-1991: n=204

Excluded because of any current or former evidence of arthritis or trauma,



n=19

The subjects with chronic "unexplained" knee pain were followed up in 1995-1997,

n=185.

Lost to follow-up n=30

Radiographic examination of the most painful knee at inclusion (index knee) was performed at follow-up (1995-1997) in those subjects who agreed [56]. These subjects constitute the non-traumatic cohort in **Study I**

n=155.

Figure 6. Flowchart detailing the inclusion of subjects and loss to follow-up in the non-traumatic cohort (Study I).

Two hundred subjects with a suspected acute ACL injury were referred from the orthopaedic emergency department to the Department of Orthopaedics at Lund University Hospital, Lund, Sweden, from February 1986 to April 1989 [124, 126].

Excluded or not included because the only recruiter for the study was off duty: n=15 and n=85 respectively



The total number of ACL injured subjects: n=100

Lost to follow-up n=23



A full-limb radiograph of the leg uninjured at baseline and the alignment was assessed at follow-up 15 years after injury: n=77.

Subjects were excluded if they had sustained an ACL injury (n=2), osteoarthritis (n=5) or joint space narrowing (n=1) of the knee uninjured at baseline during follow-up: n=8.



ACL-injured subjects: n=69

The tibiofemoral and patellofemoral joints of the injured knee had not been assessed in one and three subjects respectively.



The ACL-injured cohort in Study II: n=68

Figure 7. Flowchart detailing the inclusion of subjects and loss to follow-up in the ACL-injured cohort in Study II.

A convenience sample consisting of subjects with acute knee injury and where synovial fluid had been aspirated in the acute phase of injury:

n=114

Subjects without hemarthrosis were excluded:

n=3.



The subjects with acute knee injury that were included in the analyses in Studies III and IV :
n=111
The knee MRI could not be retrieved in 13 subjects.
The subjects with acute knee injury that were included in the analyses in Study IV :
n=98

Figure 8. Flowchart detailing the inclusion of subjects in the acute knee-injured cohorts in Studies III and IV.

Methods

An overview of the main methods used in the papers in the thesis is presented in Table 1.

Methods	Study I	Study II	Study III	Study IV	Study V
Radiography of the tibiofemoral joint	Х	Х			
Radiography of the patellofemoral joint		Х			
Full-limb radiography		Х			
Knee MRI	Х			Х	
Alcian blue precipitation			Х		
ARGS-aggrecan ECL immunoassay			Х		
Human bone panel II ECL immunoassay			Х		
Human pro-inflammatory II ECL immunoassay			Х		
COMP sandwich ELISA				Х	
Western blot					Х

Table 1. The main methods used in the course of the thesis.

ECL: electrochemiluminescence, MRI: magnetic resonance imaging, COMP: cartilage oligomeric matrix protein, ELISA; enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Radiography of the knee (Studies I & II)

In **Study I**, the ACL-injured knee of the post-traumatic cohort and the index knee of the non-traumatic cohort was radiographed and classified according to OA features. In **Study II**, the ACL-injured knee and the contralateral knee uninjured at baseline were radiographed to enable classification according to OA features. In the uninjured leg of this cohort, full-limb radiography was used to assess knee alignment. The different techniques of knee and full-limb radiography are presented in Table 2.

	Knee position	Body weight distribution	Fluoroscopic positioning of the X-ray beam
Study I			
Post-traumatic cohort (TF joint)	15° of knee flexion	Equally distributed over both legs	No
Non-traumatic cohort (TF joint)	30–50° of knee flexion. The medial aspect of the foot was parallel to the central X-ray beam.	Almost the whole weight was on the leg of the examined knee.	Yes, the central beam was adjusted to be tangential to the anterior and posterior aspects of the medial tibial plateau.
Study II			
TF joint	20° of knee flexion	Equally distributed over both legs	Yes, fluoroscopic guidance was used to depict an optimal view of the medial compartment
PF joint	50° of knee flexion	Equally distributed over both legs	No
Full-limb	Knee in full extension	Equally distributed over both legs	No

Table 2. Knee and full-limb radiography techniques

TF: tibiofemoral, PF: patellofemoral

In **Study I**, the tibiofemoral joint of the post-traumatic and non-traumatic cohorts was classified according to the recommendations of the Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI), using the atlas of individual radiographic features in OA, regarding joint space narrowing and osteophytes [189]. The tibiofemoral joint was also classified according to the Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) scale and radiographic OA was defined as a K-L grade ≥ 2 [190].

In **Study II**, the tibiofemoral joint of the injured and contralateral knee uninjured at baseline and the patellofemoral joint of the injured knee were classified according to the recommendations of the OARSI. Radiographic OA was defined as joint space narrowing ≥ 2 in the medial or lateral tibiofemoral or patellofemoral compartments, a sum of marginal osteophyte grades ≥ 2 in the same tibiofemoral compartment or grade 1 joint space narrowing combined with a grade 1 osteophyte in the same tibiofemoral compartment. Radiographic OA was also defined as the sum of osteophyte grades ≥ 2 in the patellofemoral joint or grade 1 joint space narrowing, combined with a grade 1 osteophyte in the patellofemoral joint. The definition amended for tibiofemoral OA approximates a Kellgren-Lawrence grade of ≥ 2 , widely used as a cut-off for radiographic OA [190].

MRI of the knee (Studies I & IV)

The MR images obtained and used in Studies I and IV were taken with one of three 1.5T machines (Philips Intera, Eindhoven, the Netherlands; Siemens Impact, Erlangen, Germany; or Siemens Avanto). Proton density T2-weighted sequences (PDT2) and short-tau inversion recovery (STIR) sequences were obtained in the coronal and sagittal planes using a circular polarised surface coil. The MRI sequences were selected for diagnostic purposes in the clinical setting and complement each other well in the classification of both soft tissue and bone defects. The slice thickness was between 3 or 4 mm for the STIR sequence and 3 mm for the PDT2 sequence. In both Studies I and IV, MR images were assessed by an experienced musculoskeletal radiologist (TB) who classified the images for primary diagnosis (Studies I and IV), secondary soft tissue injuries, traumatic bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures (Study IV). Meniscal tears and traumatic bone marrow lesions were classified as present or absent for the entire knee. A trabecular fracture was defined as a line with a low signal parallel to the cortex, visualised on the PDT2 sequences, combined with a surrounding traumatic bone marrow lesion visualised on the STIR sequences. An osteochondral fracture was defined as a trabecular fracture combined with depressed cortical bone with or without disruption of the cortical bone [44].

Alcian blue precipitation (Study III)

In **Study III**, Alcian blue precipitation was used to measure sulphated glycosaminoglycan (sGAG), as described by Björnsson [191]. Positive charges of Alcian blue interact with the negatively charged sGAGs and precipitate when exposed to an acid environment. The amount of sGAG can thereafter be quantified using a spectrophotometer. As aggrecan is by far the most sGAG-substituted proteoglycan in cartilage [192], the sGAG concentration is a valid measurement of the total amount of aggrecan in synovial fluid.

Electrochemiluminescence (Study III)

In **Study III**, we used electrochemiluminescence immunoassays (Meso Scale Discovery, Gaithersburg, MD, USA) to measure ARGS-aggrecan, bone markers and pro-inflammatory cytokines in the synovial fluid of acutely injured knees and the knees of healthy reference subjects. The measurement of ARGS-aggrecan was as previously described [87] and the measurement of bone markers and pro-inflammatory cytokines was made according to the manufacturer's instructions.

ELISA (Study IV)

In **Study IV**, we measured COMP concentrations in the synovial fluid of acutely injured knees and the knees of healthy reference subjects using a sandwich enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) according to the manufacturer's instructions (BioVendor R&D, Brno, Czech Republic).

Western blot (Study V)

In **Study V**, we used Western blotting to identify and quantify different aggrecan fragments in medium and left in bovine cartilage explants cultured under different conditions. Samples were separated by sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) and electrophoretically transferred onto polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) membranes. The membranes were incubated with primary and secondary antibodies and the proteins were detected with enhanced chemiluminescence Plus (GE Healthcare) using film (Amersham Hyperfilm enhanced chemiluminescence) or with a luminescence image analyser (Fuji Film LAS-1000) and Multi Gauge v3.2 (Fuji Film) software 18. A set of well-characterised primary antibodies directed at different sites in the aggrecan molecule were used and the specificity of the primary antibodies was confirmed by Western blot-blocking experiments using immunogen peptides.

To be able to quantify aggrecan fragments using Western blotting, G3-, FFGVand ARGS-aggrecan standards were prepared *in vitro* from purified aggrecan (A1D1). The standards were deglycosylated and five to six standard points were loaded on the gels. The standards and samples were then quantified using the luminescence image analyser (Fuji Film LAS-1000) and Multi Gauge v3.2 (Fuji Film) software. The quantity in μ g of each fragment was calculated, within the linear range of the standard curve [89].

Statistical methods

All tests were two-tailed with p < 0.05 indicating statistical significance. Because of small study samples in **Study V** (n=3), we presumed that large differences were needed to reveal statistically significant differences between conditions. We therefore considered p < 0.1 as a statistical trend. In Study I, logistic regression analysis adjusted for gender was used to analyse differences in radiographic features between post- and non-traumatic OA. In Study II, odds ratios were calculated to estimate the association between knee OA and knee alignment (varus vs normal/valgus alignment). Because of the small number of subjects in this investigation, multivariate analysis was not performed due to the risk of unstable estimates. In Studies III and IV, skewed data were log10 transformed before analysis to ascertain normal distribution. Normality distribution was tested using the Shapiro-Wilk test and graphically. Two-group comparisons for non-normally distributed data were performed with the Mann-Whitney test (Study IV). In Study V, all tests were performed using the paired samples t-test of statistical significance and normal distribution was assumed. When analysing medium samples, these were normalised against the total glycosaminoglycan content in the explant system before statistical testing to account for *de novo* aggrecan production (Study V). In Study IV, two-group comparisons were made using analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) with adjustment for days between injury and synovial fluid aspiration, gender and age.

Methodological considerations

Subjects

There are several important advantages and shortcomings relating to the cohorts investigated in the course of the present thesis. In **Study I**, both the post-traumatic and non-traumatic cohorts were well characterised and the sample sizes were probably sufficient to detect important differences between the populations. The time to follow-up of the post-traumatic cohort was adequate to allow radiographic OA development (12-14 years). Moreover, to ascertain that the non-traumatic cohort was in fact non-traumatic, 59 randomly selected individuals underwent MRI and only one subject had suffered an ACL tear. However, the fact that a large number of individuals were lost to follow-up, especially in the post-traumatic cohort (48%), creates a risk of selection bias. The lack of information on meniscal tears among the ACL-injured women and some of the men and unawareness of when the meniscal tear was sustained among the men must be regarded as a limitation of **Study I**.

As in **Study I**, the time from ACL rupture to follow-up in the subjects in **Study II** was sufficient for radiographic OA to develop (15 years). Although **Study II** has several limitations, the most important is that the study was conducted on a prospectively recruited cohort, but the hypothesis and measurements relevant to the hypothesis were made subsequently, at the 15-year follow-up. Only 68 subjects were included and this somewhat low number was insufficient to draw any firm conclusions regarding the findings of the study. The study design was, however, justified by the hypothesis-generating approach of **Study II**. The detailed characterisation of the subjects included in **Study II** is an advantage of the study.

Regarding **Studies III** and **IV**, which were conducted using the same cohort, the sample sizes were probably large enough for the questions that were being addressed. **Study III** comprised 111 subjects and **Study IV** 98 subjects. The MRI images of 13 subjects could not be retrieved, thus explaining this discrepancy. It is important to note that the subjects in this cohort constitute a convenience sample, where 79 of the 111 patients included were not included during an ongoing RCT [185]. Additional subjects were recruited just before or after the RCT recruitment process. The inclusion and exclusion criteria of the RCT influenced the

heterogeneity of the included subjects, which is a limitation. In particular, the age distribution and the number of subjects with a previous knee injury were probably different from those of a consecutively recruited cohort.

Imaging

Several different radiographic techniques were used to detect joint space narrowing and osteophytes during the course of the thesis. In **Study I**, the nontraumatic cohort was radiographed using fluoroscopy guidance aligning the X-ray beam tangentially to the medial tibial plateau, with almost the full weight on the examined knee and knee flexion of 30-50°. In the post-traumatic cohort, a fixed knee angle was used and the knee was flexed about 15°. Although the prior technique is superior in visualising both the joint space and marginal osteophytes, these differences will not have biased our results. The approach amended in **Study I** does not reflect differences in the prevalence of specific radiographic features between the two cohorts but rather the relationship between joint space narrowing and osteophytes in the lateral and medial compartments and osteophytes on the tibia and femur within the same cohort. In **Study II**, the contralateral uninjured knee was visualised with the knee in full extension. This view is not optimal for visualising the joint space and some subjects with early OA may have been overlooked and included in further analyses.

Regarding the MRI classification, assessment was made by a single musculoskeletal radiologist (TB). No reproducibility measurements were made, which is a limitation of **Study IV**.

Results

Radiological characteristics of post- and non-traumatic knee osteoarthritis (Study 1)

According to the Kellgren-Lawrence classification [190], 77% and 39% of subjects had radiographic tibiofemoral OA in the post-traumatic and non-traumatic cohorts respectively. The distribution of radiographic joint space narrowing and osteophytes (Altman grade ≥ 1) in the two cohorts is shown in Figure 9 [189]. Joint space narrowing in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and osteophytes on the medial and lateral femur and the lateral tibia were more common in the post-traumatic cohort.



Figure 9. The distribution of osteophytes (OF)s and joint space narrowing (JSN) in the knees of the post-traumatic (PT) and non-traumatic (NT) cohorts.

The 95% confidence intervals for the odds ratios of belonging to the posttraumatic cohort compared with the non-traumatic cohort revealed differences in the radiological characteristics between the two cohorts. When compared with the non-traumatic cohort, subjects in the post-traumatic cohort had an increased risk of lateral tibiofemoral joint space narrowing compared with medial tibiofemoral joint space narrowing (borderline significance). A higher risk of osteophytes on the medial and lateral femur and the lateral tibia (borderline significance) compared with the medial tibia was also observed (Table 3).

 Table 3. Risk of joint space narrowing and osteophyte formation in the post-traumatic and non-traumatic cohorts*

	Post-traumatic vs non-traumatic
	OR (95% CI)
Joint space narrowing	
Medial	0.8 (0.5-1.6)
Lateral	4.4 (1.5-13.6)
Osteophytes	
Medial tibia	0.7 (0.4-1.2)
Medial femur	3.3 (1.7-6.5)
Lateral tibia	2.1 (1.2-3.6)
Lateral femur	4.1 (1.9-8.9)

*The relative risk was expressed as OR and adjusted for gender. All patients in the post-traumatic cohort had sustained an anterior cruciate ligament tear. Patients in the non-traumatic cohort had no known knee injuries. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval

Alignment and the risk of post-traumatic osteoarthritis (Study II)

In **Study II**, the hip-knee-ankle angle was assessed in the contralateral uninjured knee at follow-up 15 years after ACL injury. The contralateral uninjured knee was used as a proxy for the alignment of the injured knee at baseline. Varus alignment of the contralateral knee was associated with an increased risk of knee OA, defined as tibiofemoral and/or patellofemoral knee OA, of the ACL-injured knee. These findings did not, however, reach statistical significance (odds ratio: 3.9 (1.0-15.8), p value: 0.052. The distribution of knee OA in relation to knee alignment is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10. The distribution of alignment, expressed as the hip-knee-ankle (HKA) angle, among subjects with and without knee osteoarthritis (OA)

Cartilage and bone markers and inflammatory cytokines in the acute phase of knee injury (Studies III & IV)

In Studies III and IV, we analysed the differences in synovial fluid concentrations of several cartilage (ARGS, sGAG, COMP) and bone markers (osteocalcin, secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine (SPARC), osteopontin) and inflammatory cytokines (IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, TNF- α) in acutely injured knees (n=111) compared with reference knees (n=10). The synovial fluid concentrations of ARGS, COMP, SPARC, osteopontin and all cytokines, but not sGAG or osteocalcin, were higher in injured knees compared with knees of age- and gendermatched reference subjects. We also found that the synovial fluid concentrations of ARGS, sGAG and COMP were higher in knees aspirated one to three days after injury and thereafter but not in those injured and aspirated the same day (ARGS), or the same day and day one after injury (sGAG and COMP). Biomarkers of bone formation (SPARC), bone resorption (osteopontin) and inflammation were higher in acutely injured knees at all investigated time points (0-23 days after acute knee injury). A depiction of the relative median biomarker levels in synovial fluid samples from acutely injured knees related to biomarker levels in the knees of ageand gender-matched reference subjects is shown in Figure 11.



Days after acute knee injury

Figure 11. Relative increase in median biomarker levels in synovial fluid samples from acutely injured knees related to median biomarker levels in knees of age- and gender-matched reference subjects. These are listed above in a heatmap. A normal median was defined as a median concentration in the knee injured subjects between 0.5 and 2 times that of the median concentration in reference subjects. COMP, cartilage oligomeric matrix protein; IL, interleukin; OCL, osteocalcin; OPN, osteopontin; sGAG, sulphated glycosaminoglycan; SPARC, secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine; TNF, tumour necrosis factor.

Osteochondral fractures and joint inflammation (Study IV)

Acute knee injury leads to impact on the bone and cartilage, resulting in traumatic bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures [44]. In the present study, we used the presence of an osteochondral fracture as a sign of stronger impact trauma in knees with soft tissue knee injuries. We hypothesised that a disruption of the cortical bone would lead to a higher degree of joint inflammation and increased levels of bone markers in synovial fluid. We found that acutely injured knees with any osteochondral fracture had higher synovial fluid concentrations of TNF- α . Moreover, knees with disrupted cortical bone had higher synovial fluid concentrations of SPARC, IL-8, and TNF- α , compared with knees without osteochondral fractures, and higher synovial fluid concentrations of IL-8 and TNF- α , compared with knees with osteochondral fractures but intact cortical bone (Table 4).

	Any OC fracture	vs.	No OC fracture	vs.	OC fracture with	vs.	OC fracture without
	(n=67)		(n=31)		disrupted cortical bone (n=38)		disrupted cortical bone (n=29)
	Median (IQR)	Adjusted	Median (IQR)	Adjusted	Median (IQR)	Adjusted	Median (IQR)
		p-values		p-values		p-values	
sGAG (µg/ml)	168 (78-306)		135 (76-331)	0.917	171 (62-354)	0.703	162 (79-303)
ARGS (pmol/ml)	73 (32-171)	0.472	59 (18-185)	0.239	70 (34-173)	0.612	73 (29-155)
OCL (ng/ml)	35 (23-51)	0.624	42 (26-56)	0.682	29 (18-51)	0.917	37 (31-52)
SPARC (ng/ml)	471 (322-767)	0.061	407 (140-685)	0.030	492 (328-754)	0.569	456 (267-773)
OPN (ng/ml)	75 (20-160)	0.110	29 (6-79)	0.110	84 (20-157)	0.569	56 (19-191)
IL1-β (pg/ml)	11 (4-30)	0.537	12 (5-28)	0.419	11 (4-37)	0.501	11 (4-24)
IL-6 (pg/ml)	3386 (740-14425)	0.996	3602 (1254-14896)	0.842	2833 (455-16868)	0.767	4092 (845-10706)
IL-8 (pg/ml)	211 (89-417)	0.223	138 (67-413)	0.028	278 (148-628)	0.004	124 (78-265)
TNF-α (pg/ml)	9 (7-12)	0.013	7 (5-14)	0.004	11 (7-15)	0.012	7 (6-11)
COMP (µg/ml)	30 (21-36)	0.814	28 (21-47)	0.557	29 (20-33)	0.553	30 (23-48)
Between-group sta	itistical testing was perfe	ormed using a	analysis of covariance v	vith adjustm	ent for days between the	injury and s	synovial fluid aspiration,

Table 4. Differences in biomarker concentrations in the synovial fluid between knees with or without osteochondral fractures

age at injury and gender. Skewed data were log10 transformed before analysis to ascertain normal distribution. Significant differences (P < 0.05) are in bold. COMP, cartilage oligomeric matrix protein; IL, interleukin; IQR, interquartile range; OC, osteochondral; OCL, osteocalcin; OPN, osteopontin; sGAG, sulphated glycosaminoglycan; SPARC, secreted protein acidic and rich in cysteine; TNF, tumour necrosis factor

Protease activity in bovine cartilage explants coincubated with joint capsule and/or mechanically injured (Study V)

In **Study V**, we investigated how and by which proteases aggrecan is degraded in cartilage explants exposed to mechanical trauma, co-incubated with joint capsule or treated with exogenous TNF- α . The main findings were that: After normalising for total GAG: (1) the release of FFGV-aggrecan into medium was increased in mechanically injured cartilage, regardless of co-incubation with joint capsule (p<0.5, Figure 12). This suggests increased MMP activity in both these conditions. (2) In mechanically injured cartilage co-incubated with joint capsule, there tended to be an increased release of ARGS-aggrecan (p<0.1, Figure 13). This suggests increased aggrecanase activity in this condition. We also found that, in the mechanically injured and TNF- α stimulated cartilage, only aggrecanase activity was detected. No MMP activity was observed as measured by Western blotting in cartilage (Figure 14) or FFGV-aggrecan in medium in this condition (data not shown).



Figure 12. The mean accumulated amount of FFGV fragments detected in the medium over the 16day incubation period. The conditions are: (A) uninjured cartilage; (B) mechanically injured cartilage; (C) uninjured cartilage co-cultured with joint capsule and (D) mechanically injured cartilage co-incubated with joint capsule.



Figure 13. The mean accumulated amount of ARGS fragments detected in the medium over the 16day incubation period. The conditions are: (A) uninjured cartilage; (B) mechanically injured cartilage; (C) uninjured cartilage co-cultured with joint capsule and (D) mechanically injured cartilage co-incubated with joint capsule.



Figure 14. Western blot of the cartilage conditions: A (uninjured cartilage), B (mechanically injured cartilage), C (uninjured cartilage co-cultured with joint capsule (JC), D (mechanically injured cartilage co-incubated with joint capsule, E (mechanically injured cartilage treated with exogenous tumour necrosis factor (TNF)- α and F (joint capsule). The cartilage and joint capsule explants were cultured from six hours (h) up to 16 days (d). The G1-TEGE and G1-DIPES fragments were detected using an antibody against the G1 domain of the aggrecan molecule. No G1-DIPES fragment was detected in the mechanically injured cartilage treated with exogenous TNF- α . MwM: molecular weight marker.

Conclusions

- Subjects with post-traumatic knee OA secondary to an ACL injury have more joint space narrowing and more osteophytes in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment than in the medial compartment compared with subjects with non-traumatic OA.
- Subjects with post-traumatic OA also have more osteophytes on the medial femur compared with the medial tibia.
- Varus alignment may be a risk factor for OA 15 years after an ACL injury, although the observed difference could not be verified statistically.
- Acute knee injury is associated with instant and sustained synovial fluid biochemical alterations within the first month of knee injury, suggestive of increased aggrecan degradation and severe joint inflammation.
- In subjects with soft tissue knee injuries, an osteochondral fracture with disrupted cortical bone is associated with increased joint inflammation in the acute phase of knee injury.
- Mechanical injury of bovine cartilage explants increases MMP activity in cartilage.
- In mechanically injured cartilage, co-incubated with joint capsule, aggrecanase activity appears to be increased.
- Cytokine stimulation may induce aggrecan degradation by a different pathway compared with when cartilage explants are mechanically injured and (or) co-incubated with joint capsule.

Discussion and future perspectives

Post-traumatic and non-traumatic knee osteoarthritis

There are indications that post-traumatic and non-traumatic knee OA should not be regarded as one disease. When comparing age-associated and instability-induced mouse knee OA models, the effects of genetic modification led to different outcomes in approximately one-third of models [101]. Valdes et al. [62], showed that subjects who undergo total knee replacement due to post-traumatic OA had a non-significantly larger proportion of genetic risk variants compared with nontraumatic subjects. Moreover, it has been suggested that the inflammatory pathways between post-traumatic OA and non-traumatic OA, such as metabolic syndrome OA, crystal-induced OA and OA related to ageing, may differ. Berenbaum [148] speculated that the origin and types of inflammatory molecules involved in cartilage degradation could vary between post- and non-traumatic OA. Furthermore, the development of subchondral bone alterations may differ between non-traumatic and post-traumatic knee OA. Buckland-Wright et al. [142] showed that thickening of the horizontal subchondral trabeculae and osteophytosis were early findings in ACL-injured subjects, whereas subchondral cortical plate thickening was not. Subchondral cortical plate thickening was, however, found in patients with early non-traumatic knee OA [193]. In Study I, we showed that, the post-traumatic cohort (ACL-injured subjects) had proportionally more joint space narrowing in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment than in the medial compartment (borderline significance) compared with the non-traumatic cohort. Moreover, compared with the non-traumatic cohort, the post-traumatic cohort had more osteophytes in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment and more osteophytes on the femur compared with the medial tibia. Although there are many similarities in the presentation and risk factors of post- and non-traumatic knee OA [62, 121], these findings may further support the separation of non- and post-traumatic OA and that these entities should be considered using different approaches.

Future investigations that clarify potential differences in the biological response leading to post- and non-traumatic OA could be important. This knowledge could lead to the improved management of knee-injured subjects, as well as subjects with already established post-and non-traumatic OA.

The knee injury and the impact

As proof of the high impact forces applied to cartilage at the time of injury, traumatic bone marrow lesions and osteochondral fractures, located predominantly in the lateral tibiofemoral compartment, are commonly associated with an ACL injury [39, 44]. Osteochondral fractures are associated with meniscal tears [39] and increased size of the adjacent traumatic bone marrow lesions [39, 44]. This underlines the fact that their presence represents a proxy for the strong impact forces applied to the knee at the time of acute knee injury. The long-term consequences of osteochondral fractures and whether these injuries increase the risk of developing OA have not yet been evaluated. In the short term, however, their presence may be associated with a poorer clinical outcome [39, 146].

Importantly, the impact between the tibia and femur at the time of ACL injury leads to chondrocyte and osteocyte death at the site of impact [49, 194, 195]. Chondrocyte death has also been shown in cartilage explants where supraphysiological loads were applied over the cartilage. This also leads to the disruption of the collagen fibrillar network [196]. Chondrocytes left in the cartilage may adopt a catabolic phenotype in an attempt to repair the injured ECM by increasing the expression of aggrecanases (ADAMTS 4 and 5), MMPs and growth factors [197, 198]. During the present thesis, we have provided some evidence of increased activity by both aggrecanases and MMPs after mechanical impact on cartilage. The increased ARGS-aggrecan concentrations in synovial fluid as early as one day after an acute knee injury in Study III is indicative of an increased aggrecanase activity. In **Study V**, we showed that the mechanical injury of cartilage explants increases MMP but not aggrecanase activity in cartilage. The combination of mechanical injury and the co-incubation of cartilage with joint capsule induced increased MMP and a trend towards increased aggrecanase activity. These events could have implications for human disease and the increase in protease activity most probably leads to progressive cartilage erosion.

Articular fractures have been shown to induce synovitis. With increasing fracture severity, increased synovial inflammation and reduced peri-articular bone density were observed [194]. This indicates that fractures of cortical bone, including those associated with soft tissue knee injuries, could increase cross-talk between chondrocytes, bone and synovial cells. In **Study IV**, we found elevated concentrations of SPARC, IL-8 and TNF- α in those knees with an identified osteochondral fracture, with disrupted cortical bone in association with soft tissue knee injuries. These differences could be attributed to the breakage of the cortical bone and the concurrent initiation of fracture healing [199]. Other factors related to the occurrence of osteochondral fractures, such as the degree of impact forces

applied over the articular surfaces, cell death and the degree of hemarthrosis [49, 173, 200], could also be important for the inflammatory response to trauma.

In a recent *in vitro* articular fracture model, chondrocyte death was found mostly along fracture lines and, interestingly, a rapid decrease in chondrocyte viability was shown over the first two days after injury [201]. The production of inflammatory mediators and reactive oxygen species as a response to the injury could induce chondrocyte stress and progressive chondrocyte apoptosis and necrosis [202, 203]. Taken as a whole, these findings suggest that, in the very acute phase of knee injury, there may be a window of treatment opportunity where measures to salvage chondrocytes could improve long-term outcomes after intra-articular fracture and also after ACL injury [204].

Mechanical impact and its role in osteoarthritis initiation after ACL injury

An acute knee injury, exemplified by the ACL injury, induces events that may lead to knee OA in the near future [19, 21]. The subsequent risk of OA may be closely associated with the knee injury mechanism and the panorama of injuries in the knee sustained at the onset of injury [27]. An ACL injury is associated with hemarthrosis, a high degree of joint inflammation, large numbers of meniscal tears, cartilage lesions and osteochondral fractures and all these factors may be important for the risk of OA [32, 44, 173]. The most important risk factor for posttraumatic OA after ACL injury appears to be an associated meniscus injury [21]. The likely explanation of this is that, depending on the type of meniscal tear, or the degree of meniscectomy, the peak loads on specific cartilage areas may be increased several times [120, 205]. Consequently, could associated meniscal injuries be the sole answer to why ACL-injured subjects develop post-traumatic OA? Probably not; the findings in Study IV suggest that the initial impaction forces applied over the joint surfaces may also be important. Others have shown that patients with ACL injuries (isolated or combined with injury to the meniscus or collateral ligaments) showed the first signs of OA (radiologic joint space narrowing) at an average age of about 40 years. Patients with isolated meniscus injuries had the same stage of disease ten years later on average [123]. Furthermore, significant cartilage erosion visualised using MR imaging is also evident after "isolated" ACL injury [41]. In animal models of OA, post-traumatic OA development results from many of the intra-articular injuries associated with an ACL tear. Anterior cruciate ligament transection, meniscal destabilisation and resection and fracture of the articular surface all induce OA in these models [101, 194].

In **Study I**, we showed that lateral compared with medial tibiofemoral joint space narrowing and osteophytosis increased in ACL-injured subjects compared with subjects with non-traumatic OA. There were also more osteophytes on the femur compared with the medial tibia. With this in mind, there was still more medial compared with lateral OA features, such as joint space narrowing and osteophytes, in the ACL-injured group, in line with the findings of others [142, 206, 207]. Importantly, our findings on joint space narrowing and osteophyte locations in the post-traumatic cohort may largely mirror the locations of acute and chronic cartilage lesions in the ACL-injured knee. Of particular interest to our findings, in a seven- to 11-year prospective investigation of ACL-injured subjects, Potter et al. [41] consequently (at several time points after ACL injury) reported that MRIdetected cartilage lesions were found with the highest severity grade on the lateral tibia. With decreasing severity grade, lesions were detected on the lateral femur, patella, medial femur, trochlea and medial tibia [41].

Our findings have, furthermore, been confirmed in two subsequent studies showing that early non-traumatic OA predominantly affects the medial tibiofemoral compartment, whereas post-traumatic OA (after ACL injury) affects both the medial and lateral tibiofemoral compartments [208, 209]. Huétink et al. [208] followed subjects who underwent MRI because of subacute (≤ 4 weeks) knee problems for 10 years. Subjects with ACL injury at baseline had an increased risk of radiographic joint space narrowing and osteophytes medially. In the same study as visualised on MRI, ACL injury increased the risk of diffuse cartilage lesions and osteophytes medially, whereas an increased risk of focal cartilage defects, osteophytes, bone marrow lesions and subchondral cysts was observed in the lateral compartment.

In overall terms, our and subsequent findings suggest that early post-traumatic OA after ACL injury often affects both the lateral and the medial tibiofemoral compartments. This suggests that the initial trauma which predominantly affects the lateral tibiofemoral compartment at the time of injury is important for future OA risk in that very compartment.

Immunity vs biomechanics in driving the OA process after anterior cruciate ligament rupture

In recent years, there has been an intense debate on the relative contributions of inflammation and biomechanics in initiating and driving the OA process. With the knowledge acquired during the present thesis and from the findings of others, this view should perhaps be broadened and also include the magnitude of the impact at injury as an important factor in post-traumatic OA. It is likely that mechanical

damage to joint tissues at the time of ACL rupture, the degree of acute and chronic inflammation and the abnormal joint loading over time potentiate one another. To conclude, the initial impact applied over the articular surfaces may be a determinant of how the cartilage responds to inflammatory activation and withstands long-term abnormal loading [204].

Inflammation

The inflammatory component of non-traumatic and post-traumatic OA may be considerable [102, 148, 175, 210, 211]. However, even though there are substantial data suggesting that joint inflammation plays an important role in OA progression, viable treatment options limiting joint inflammation and thereby OA progression in humans are not available. The inhibition of specific cytokines has not provided convincing evidence that the OA process could be stopped or slowed down [148].

After ACL injury, the severity of arthroscopically detected post-traumatic cartilage lesions has been shown to correlate with synovial fluid concentrations of IL1- β . TNF- α and osteopontin and negatively with IL-1Ra [212, 213], indicating that the inflammation may play an important role in post-traumatic OA. It is also well understood that an acute knee injury induces a high degree of inflammation which is associated with clinical symptoms such as effusion and pain [146, 153, 179-181, 214]. In Study III, we demonstrated highly elevated concentrations of the proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF- α in the acute phase of knee injury (0-23 days after injury). These findings are compatible with those of previous studies [153, 179, 180]. We also demonstrated elevated concentrations of the bone markers osteopontin and SPARC but not of osteocalcin. Osteocalcin is considered to be a specific marker of osteoblast activity [215]. Osteopontin and SPARC, however, in addition to regulating bone remodelling, may be released by several cell types and be involved in tissue remodelling and inflammation in conjunction with tissue injury [216, 217]. We suggest that this at least partly explains the increased concentrations of these markers in synovial fluid in the acute phase of knee injury. Interestingly, although the synovial fluid concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines appear to decrease with time from injury, SPARC concentrations may remain elevated at a constant level and osteopontin concentrations appear to further increase as the time from injury increases, at least within the first 23 days after injury. Based on these findings and given the pro-inflammatory abilities of SPARC and osteopontin [216-220], these molecules could cause sustained inflammation and cartilage degradation in the knee after the acute injury [213, 221, 222].

The acute increase in pro-inflammatory cytokines and bone markers in synovial fluid was accompanied by increased ARGS-aggrecan, sGAG and COMP, suggesting increased cleavage and turnover of aggrecan and COMP as early as one to three days after injury (Studies III and IV). Increased synovial fluid concentrations of these and other potential markers of progressive cartilage ECM erosion, such as crosslinked peptides from type II collagen, have been shown in previous investigations many years after acute knee injury [81, 85, 88, 165], suggesting that the ACL injury induces processes that permanently change the biochemical joint environment. Typically, pro-inflammatory concentrations in synovial fluid appear to normalise within a few months. However, in subsets of subjects, inflammation may persist several years after an ACL injury and influence the production of molecules important for cartilage knee joint function such as lubricin [153]. Cameron et al. [179] showed that, while IL-1ra concentrations increased in the acute phase, they were markedly reduced in the chronic phase (≥ 3 months). As a result, not only increased joint inflammation, as measured by synovial fluid TNF- α or IL-1 β , for example, but also the relationship between proinflammatory and chondroprotective agents, such as IL-1ra, IL-10 and lubricin, are essential when considering the potential effect of inflammation on the risk of posttraumatic OA. Although these studies do not prove that a high degree of joint inflammation after ACL injury leads to cartilage erosion, this is highly plausible. General cartilage erosion also observed at sites not affected by the initial impact suggests that the biochemical joint environment and perhaps the degree of inflammation are essential for progressive cartilage erosion after an ACL injury. Cartilage lesions and collagen cleavage in the non-weight-bearing cartilage of the intercondylar notch early after ACL injury support this [41, 107, 108]. An equal distribution of radiographic features between the medial and lateral tibiofemoral compartments (findings from Study I) and the fact that patellofemoral and tibiofemoral OA are often found concurrently after ACL injury may also support this [126, 223].

Biomechamics

It has been emphasised that knee OA is caused by increased physical forces across a confined cartilage region or by too high a general joint load, as in the case of obesity [7, 224]. The increased forces acting on the cartilage could be related to the shape of the joint or could be acquired, after an ACL or meniscal tear, for example [7, 65, 66, 225]. In most cases, both inherent factors and acquired factors may, however, interact to induce increased cartilage stress [19, 121]. The age of a subject inevitably also influences the ability of cartilage to withstand a change in loads and to induce reparative measures [123]. In a large-scale study (n=5,086), Sri-Ram et al. [129] showed that subjects aged > 30 years ran a significantly increased risk of chondral lesions and medial but not lateral meniscal tears at the time of ACL reconstruction. Disruption of the ACL, furthermore, leads to abnormal gait patterns and changes in the load on cartilage, observed in both non-reconstructed and ACL-reconstructed subjects [226]. A common understanding is that increased tibial translation and tibiofemoral rotation due to the loss of ACL function leads to a change in cartilage load, increasing the risk of knee OA [7]. Moreover, quadriceps strength may not recover fully after ACL injury, leading to excessive loads on cartilage during gait and increasing the risk of post-traumatic OA [227]. One intriguing hypothesis is that cartilage regions which, over a lifetime have adapted to withstand tensile rather than compressive loads (see above), may suddenly, after ACL rupture and due to changes in joint motion, be exposed to high compressive loads [7]. In combination with other risk factors for post-traumatic OA, this could induce loads that are too high for cartilage to withstand and lead to post-traumatic OA.

One such risk factor may be varus malalignment, which is known to predispose to future knee OA [65, 66]. Malalignment (either varus or valgus) is also a risk factor for both tibiofemoral and patellofemoral OA progression [228, 229]. The risk of tibiofemoral OA is probably mediated by the adduction moment at the knee and increased medial-to-lateral knee cartilage loads [230]. Increased loading of the medial tibiofemoral compartment in subjects with varus alignment could explain why, in **Study II**, we found indications that varus alignment was associated with an increased risk of OA. Neuman et al. [111] showed that GAG content as measured by dGEMRIC approached normal values in the lateral femoral cartilage but remained at a low value in medial femoral cartilage from baseline to two-year follow-up. In general, the medial compartment is affected by higher loads [230] which could be important for these observed differences between the medial and lateral tibiofemoral cartilage. Altered loading patterns of cartilage secondary to the ACL injury could also have influenced on these differences [7].

More knowledge of the way the magnitude of the impact compared with chronic instability and the degree of cartilage loading influences acute and chronic joint inflammation and cartilage degradation after ACL injury is essential in order better to define the factors that are most important in OA initiation and progression.
Concluding remarks

The present thesis highlights processes that may be relevant to the risk of developing post-traumatic OA. In overall terms, the acquired knowledge suggests that, in addition to meniscus injuries, the impact forces imposed on cartilage and subchondral bone at the time of ACL injury may predispose to OA progression at the site of impact (Study I). Disruption of the cortical bone where the femur and tibia collide at the time of injury lead to increased inflammation in the acute phase of knee injury, which could influence the long-term risk of developing OA (Study **IV**). This, however, needs to be tested in trials appropriately designed to test this theory. Furthermore, synovial fluid concentrations of sGAG, ARGS-aggrecan and COMP were increased one to three days after knee injury, suggesting an almost immediate increase in the turnover of several cartilage ECM molecules (Study III and IV). Combining these findings with those of others, which have indicated a similarly early increase in collagen type II cleavage after acute knee injury (personal communication: Dr. Nobuyuki Kumahashi), suggests an almost immediate turnover of the entire cartilage ECM. These findings may challenge the predominant belief that the initiating event in pathological cartilage degradation is the cleavage of aggrecan.

Underlying this hypothesis, high concentrations of catabolic agents such as IL-1 and TNF- α induce rapid aggrecan cleavage in cartilage explants. Collagen cleavage is not initiated until most aggrecan has been degraded and released into medium [79]. In a more complex explant system, where mechanically injured cartilage explants were co-incubated with joint capsule, we detected increased MMP activity and a trend towards increased aggrecanase activity. In mechanically injured cartilage explants treated with exogenous TNF- α , a high degree of aggrecanase activity was detected but no MMP activity at all, either in medium or in cartilage (**Study V**). Taken as a whole, this could underline the non-physiological approach of using single or multiple catabolic agents to induce cartilage degradation and indicates that the cytokine-stimulated cartilage explant system may be overly simplistic. This may further challenge the theory that the kinetics of cartilage erosion involves early aggrecanase activity, whereas MMP activity only occurs later in the disease process.

In overall terms, the findings in this work underline the fact that the initial impact associated with an ACL injury appears to be important for the risk of developing post-traumatic OA. The strong forces acting over the cartilage and other tissues at the time of injury lead to severe joint inflammation and blood and marrow content makes its way into the joint. Moreover, rapidly progressing chondrocyte death occurs [201]. From a clinical perspective, the first few hours after an ACL tear could be essential when attempting to stop ongoing cartilage degradation which was initiated at the time of injury. These measures could reduce the risk of OA and we therefore propose that research delineating the importance of the acute and sustained biological response to injury should be undertaken. Ongoing longitudinal trials in which the authors may be able to link biochemical processes in synovial fluid or blood to the risk of cartilage degradation using MRI or radiography offer a promise of increased knowledge of the processes that are most important. This could lead to the improved management of knee-injured patients and possibly delay, or even prevent, post-traumatic OA development.

Some findings in the present thesis could have clinical applications. Based on the findings in **Study I**, showing that early post-traumatic OA is often located in both the lateral and the medial tibiofemoral compartments, we recommend detailed preoperative planning before surgery such as high tibial osteotomy. It is possible that the outcome of transferring the load on the knee in a lateral direction, in these subjects, leads to lateral tibiofemoral OA progression.

In **Study II**, we showed that subjects with varus alignment ran an increased risk of post-traumatic knee OA after ACL injury (borderline significance). We suggest that this hypothesis should be tested in a larger study population to evaluate the impact of alignment on post-traumatic OA. Speculatively, alignment could influence the ACL injury mechanism and the forces applied over the knee joint at the time of ACL injury, with higher impaction forces applied on the lateral joint surfaces. We therefore suggest that the relationship between alignment and injuries to cartilage and bone sustained at the time of ACL injury should be investigated.

Tack

Jag vill tacka alla som stöttat, hjälpt och uppmuntrat mig och därigenom gjort genomförandet av detta avhandlingsarbete möjligt.

Jag vill speciellt rikta ett stort tack till min huvudhandledare **Harald Roos**. Tack för ditt stöd, din uppmuntran, dina värdefulla råd och för att du gett mig möjlighet att arbeta under eget ansvar och utvecklas under min tid som doktorand. Jag vill också tacka dig för att jag fått möjligheten att arbeta med vitt skilda frågeställningar, alla dock med relevans för post-traumatisk artros.

Jag vill också rikta ett stort tack till mina bihandledare André Struglics, Richard Frobell och Martin Englund.

André, tack för att du tog dig an mig och gav mig chansen att arbeta i ditt labb. Det har varit ett sant nöje. Tack för ditt engagemang, att du alltid tar dig tid och förklarar hur saker och ting hänger ihop och för att du lärt mig allt jag kan om aggrekan. Din entusiasm smittar av sig. Tack **Richard** för att du är generös med din tid och ditt engagemang. Jag är också tacksam för din ihärdighet när det gällt att lära mig att presentera, förklara och framhäva data på ett lättförståeligt och korrekt sätt. Tack **Martin** för ditt engagemang och dina mycket värdefulla synpunkter på studiedesign och manusskrivande.

Under min tid på artroslabbet har jag fått möjligheten att arbeta på en fantastisk arbetsplats. Tack **Maria Hansson** och **Staffan Larsson** för att ni förgyllt min tid där. Tack **Maria** för att du introducerade mig till de metoder jag använt under avhandlingsarbetet, för at du alltid ställer upp när jag kör fast och för att du sprider sådan glädje. Tack **Staffan** för att du alltid ställer upp, tar dig tid att förklara och diskutera olika metoder och resultat.

Tack **Torsten Boegård** för att du bedömt röntgenbilder som använts i avhandlingen och för att du delat med dig av din expertis inom röntgen och MR.

Tack **Ioannis Kostogiannis** för att du tillsammans med **Harald** introducerade mig till forskning inom post-traumatisk artros, och för ditt stöd under genomförandet av arbete I och II.

Tack Paul Neuman och Thomas Fridén för era bidrag till arbete II.

Tack **Stefan Lohmander** för att du tillhandahöll ledvätska till arbete III och IV och för att du varit generös med din tid och kunskap under utförandet av arbete V.

Thank you **Nubuyuki Kumahashi** for being a great companion in the lab, and for teaching me about MRI.

Thank you **Alan Grodzinsky** and **Yang Wang** for your enthusiasm and contributions to Study V.

Tack **Anna** och **Bengt Rippe** för att ni lät mig forska i ert labb och för att ni lärt mig fysiologi.

Tack **Peter Svensson** för att du godkände min tjänstledighet så att jag kunde slutföra avhandlingen.

Tack Jan-Åke Nilsson och Jonas Ranstam för hjälp med statistiken.

Tack **Gun-Britt Nyberg** och **Monica Persson** för att ni tagit hand om det praktiska, och tack **Jeanette Kliger** för hjälp med språkgranskningen.

Jag vill också rikta ett stort tack till min familj.

Mina föräldrar **Kristina** och **Leif**, för att ni gett mig min värdegrund och stöttat mig under hela mitt liv. Tack också mina underbara systrar **Anna** och **Lovisa**. Jag älskar er alla.

Catrin för ditt oförtrutna stöd under hela avhandlingsarbetet. Utan dig hade avhandlingen inte varit möjlig att slutföra. Jag älskar dig.

Klara och Axel, för att ni ger mig så mycket glädje och kraft. Jag älskar er massor.

References

- 1. Kapandji AI. The knee. In:The physiology of the joints, the lower limb 6th edition. Kapandji AI ed. Churchill Livingstone (October 8, 2010)
- 2. Sanders TG, Medynski MA, Feller JF, Lawhorn KW: Bone contusion patterns of the knee at MR imaging: footprint of the mechanism of injury. Radiographics : a review publication of the Radiological Society of North America, Inc 2000, 20 Spec No:S135-151.
- 3. Samuelsson K. Anatomic ACL reconstruction-current evidence and future directions. PhD thesis, Göteborg University, Sweden, 2012.
- 4. Duthon VB, Barea C, Abrassart S, Fasel JH, Fritschy D, Menetrey J: Anatomy of the anterior cruciate ligament. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2006, 14(3):204-213.
- 5. Eleswarapu SV, Responte DJ, Athanasiou KA: Tensile properties, collagen content, and crosslinks in connective tissues of the immature knee joint. PloS one 2011, 6(10):e26178.
- 6. Hasegawa A, Nakahara H, Kinoshita M, Asahara H, Koziol J, Lotz MK: Cellular and extracellular matrix changes in anterior cruciate ligaments during human knee aging and osteoarthritis. Arthritis research & therapy 2013, 15(1):R29.
- 7. Chaudhari AM, Briant PL, Bevill SL, Koo S, Andriacchi TP: Knee kinematics, cartilage morphology, and osteoarthritis after ACL injury. Medicine and science in sports and exercise 2008, 40(2):215-222.
- 8. Shin CS, Chaudhari AM, Andriacchi TP: Valgus plus internal rotation moments increase anterior cruciate ligament strain more than either alone. Medicine and science in sports and exercise 2011, 43(8):1484-1491.
- 9. Frobell RB, Lohmander LS, Roos HP: Acute rotational trauma to the knee: poor agreement between clinical assessment and magnetic resonance imaging findings. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports 2007, 17(2):109-114.
- 10. Paterno MV, Rauh MJ, Schmitt LC, Ford KR, Hewett TE: Incidence of contralateral and ipsilateral anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury after primary ACL reconstruction and return to sport. Clinical journal of sport medicine : official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine 2012, 22(2):116-121.
- 11. Agel J, Arendt EA, Bershadsky B: Anterior cruciate ligament injury in national collegiate athletic association basketball and soccer: a 13-year review. The American journal of sports medicine 2005, 33(4):524-530.
- 12. Walden M, Hagglund M, Magnusson H, Ekstrand J: Anterior cruciate ligament injury in elite football: a prospective three-cohort study. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2011, 19(1):11-19.

- 13. Griffin LY, Albohm MJ, Arendt EA, Bahr R, Beynnon BD, Demaio M, Dick RW, Engebretsen L, Garrett WE, Jr., Hannafin JA et al: Understanding and preventing noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injuries: a review of the Hunt Valley II meeting, January 2005. The American journal of sports medicine 2006, 34(9):1512-1532.
- Hewett TE, Myer GD, Ford KR, Heidt RS, Jr., Colosimo AJ, McLean SG, van den Bogert AJ, Paterno MV, Succop P: Biomechanical measures of neuromuscular control and valgus loading of the knee predict anterior cruciate ligament injury risk in female athletes: a prospective study. The American journal of sports medicine 2005, 33(4):492-501.
- 15. Hewett TE, Zazulak BT, Myer GD: Effects of the menstrual cycle on anterior cruciate ligament injury risk: a systematic review. The American journal of sports medicine 2007, 35(4):659-668.
- 16. Hewett TE, Zazulak BT, Myer GD, Ford KR: A review of electromyographic activation levels, timing differences, and increased anterior cruciate ligament injury incidence in female athletes. British journal of sports medicine 2005, 39(6):347-350.
- 17. Ardern CL, Webster KE, Taylor NF, Feller JA: Return to the preinjury level of competitive sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: two-thirds of patients have not returned by 12 months after surgery. The American journal of sports medicine 2011, 39(3):538-543.
- 18. Tjong VK, Murnaghan ML, Nyhof-Young JM, Ogilvie-Harris DJ: A qualitative investigation of the decision to return to sport after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction: to play or not to play. The American journal of sports medicine 2014, 42(2):336-342.
- 19. Lohmander LS, Englund PM, Dahl LL, Roos EM: The long-term consequence of anterior cruciate ligament and meniscus injuries: osteoarthritis. The American journal of sports medicine 2007, 35(10):1756-1769.
- 20. Lohmander LS, Ostenberg A, Englund M, Roos H: High prevalence of knee osteoarthritis, pain, and functional limitations in female soccer players twelve years after anterior cruciate ligament injury. Arthritis and rheumatism 2004, 50(10):3145-3152.
- 21. Oiestad BE, Engebretsen L, Storheim K, Risberg MA: Knee osteoarthritis after anterior cruciate ligament injury: a systematic review. The American journal of sports medicine 2009, 37(7):1434-1443.
- 22. von Porat A, Roos EM, Roos H: High prevalence of osteoarthritis 14 years after an anterior cruciate ligament tear in male soccer players: a study of radiographic and patient relevant outcomes. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2004, 63(3):269-273.
- 23. Sward P, Kostogiannis I, Roos H: Risk factors for a contralateral anterior cruciate ligament injury. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2010, 18(3):277-291.
- 24. Webster KE, Feller JA, Leigh WB, Richmond AK: Younger patients are at increased risk for graft rupture and contralateral injury after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. The American journal of sports medicine 2014, 42(3):641-647.

- 25. Renstrom PA: Eight clinical conundrums relating to anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) injury in sport: recent evidence and a personal reflection. British journal of sports medicine 2013, 47(6):367-372.
- 26. Boden BP, Dean GS, Feagin JA, Jr., Garrett WE, Jr.: Mechanisms of anterior cruciate ligament injury. Orthopedics 2000, 23(6):573-578.
- Friden T, Erlandsson T, Zatterstrom R, Lindstrand A, Moritz U: Compression or distraction of the anterior cruciate injured knee. Variations in injury pattern in contact sports and downhill skiing. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 1995, 3(3):144-147.
- 28. Schweitzer ME, Tran D, Deely DM, Hume EL: Medial collateral ligament injuries: evaluation of multiple signs, prevalence and location of associated bone bruises, and assessment with MR imaging. Radiology 1995, 194(3):825-829.
- 29. Alentorn-Geli E, Myer GD, Silvers HJ, Samitier G, Romero D, Lazaro-Haro C, Cugat R: Prevention of non-contact anterior cruciate ligament injuries in soccer players. Part 1: Mechanisms of injury and underlying risk factors. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2009, 17(7):705-729.
- 30. Koga H, Bahr R, Myklebust G, Engebretsen L, Grund T, Krosshaug T: Estimating anterior tibial translation from model-based image-matching of a noncontact anterior cruciate ligament injury in professional football: a case report. Clinical journal of sport medicine : official journal of the Canadian Academy of Sport Medicine 2011, 21(3):271-274.
- 31. Krosshaug T, Nakamae A, Boden BP, Engebretsen L, Smith G, Slauterbeck JR, Hewett TE, Bahr R: Mechanisms of anterior cruciate ligament injury in basketball: video analysis of 39 cases. The American journal of sports medicine 2007, 35(3):359-367.
- 32. Slauterbeck JR, Kousa P, Clifton BC, Naud S, Tourville TW, Johnson RJ, Beynnon BD: Geographic mapping of meniscus and cartilage lesions associated with anterior cruciate ligament injuries. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2009, 91(9):2094-2103.
- 33. Bisson LJ, Kluczynski MA, Hagstrom LS, Marzo JM: A prospective study of the association between bone contusion and intra-articular injuries associated with acute anterior cruciate ligament tear. The American journal of sports medicine 2013, 41(8):1801-1807.
- 34. Dunn WR, Spindler KP, Amendola A, Andrish JT, Kaeding CC, Marx RG, McCarty EC, Parker RD, Harrell FE, Jr., An AQ et al: Which preoperative factors, including bone bruise, are associated with knee pain/symptoms at index anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction (ACLR)? A Multicenter Orthopaedic Outcomes Network (MOON) ACLR Cohort Study. The American journal of sports medicine 2010, 38(9):1778-1787.
- 35. Olsson O, Isacsson M, Engund M, Frobell R. Panorama of intra- and para-articular injury after knee joint hemarthrosis- data from sub-acute MR imaging findings in 1145 consecutive acute knee injuries. In: Proceedings of the Orthopedic Research Society Annual Meeting. New Orleans. 2014 (abstract 1079).

- Borchers JR, Kaeding CC, Pedroza AD, Huston LJ, Spindler KP, Wright RW: Intraarticular findings in primary and revision anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction surgery: a comparison of the MOON and MARS study groups. The American journal of sports medicine 2011, 39(9):1889-1893.
- Kilcoyne KG, Dickens JF, Haniuk E, Cameron KL, Owens BD: Epidemiology of meniscal injury associated with ACL tears in young athletes. Orthopedics 2012, 35(3):208-212.
- 38. DeHaven KE: Diagnosis of acute knee injuries with hemarthrosis. The American journal of sports medicine 1980, 8(1):9-14.
- 39. Kijowski R, Sanogo ML, Lee KS, Munoz Del Rio A, McGuine TA, Baer GS, Graf BK, De Smet AA: Short-term clinical importance of osseous injuries diagnosed at MR imaging in patients with anterior cruciate ligament tear. Radiology 2012, 264(2):531-541.
- 40. Noyes FR, Bassett RW, Grood ES, Butler DL: Arthroscopy in acute traumatic hemarthrosis of the knee. Incidence of anterior cruciate tears and other injuries. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 1980, 62(5):687-695, 757.
- 41. Potter HG, Jain SK, Ma Y, Black BR, Fung S, Lyman S: Cartilage injury after acute, isolated anterior cruciate ligament tear: immediate and longitudinal effect with clinical/MRI follow-up. The American journal of sports medicine 2012, 40(2):276-285.
- 42. Geeslin AG, LaPrade RF: Location of bone bruises and other osseous injuries associated with acute grade III isolated and combined posterolateral knee injuries. The American journal of sports medicine 2010, 38(12):2502-2508.
- 43. Laprade RF, Griffith CJ, Coobs BR, Geeslin AG, Johansen S, Engebretsen L: Improving outcomes for posterolateral knee injuries. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 2014, 32(4):485-491.
- 44. Frobell RB, Roos HP, Roos EM, Hellio Le Graverand MP, Buck R, Tamez-Pena J, Totterman S, Boegard T, Lohmander LS: The acutely ACL injured knee assessed by MRI: are large volume traumatic bone marrow lesions a sign of severe compression injury? Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2008, 16(7):829-836.
- 45. Roemer FW, Frobell R, Hunter DJ, Crema MD, Fischer W, Bohndorf K, Guermazi A: MRI-detected subchondral bone marrow signal alterations of the knee joint: terminology, imaging appearance, relevance and radiological differential diagnosis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2009, 17(9):1115-1131.
- 46. Patel SA, Hageman J, Quatman CE, Wordeman SC, Hewett TE: Prevalence and location of bone bruises associated with anterior cruciate ligament injury and implications for mechanism of injury: a systematic review. Sports Med 2014, 44(2):281-293.
- 47. Vellet AD, Marks PH, Fowler PJ, Munro TG: Occult posttraumatic osteochondral lesions of the knee: prevalence, classification, and short-term sequelae evaluated with MR imaging. Radiology 1991, 178(1):271-276.

- 48. Yoon KH, Yoo JH, Kim KI: Bone contusion and associated meniscal and medial collateral ligament injury in patients with anterior cruciate ligament rupture. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2011, 93(16):1510-1518.
- 49. Johnson DL, Urban WP, Jr., Caborn DN, Vanarthos WJ, Carlson CS: Articular cartilage changes seen with magnetic resonance imaging-detected bone bruises associated with acute anterior cruciate ligament rupture. The American journal of sports medicine 1998, 26(3):409-414.
- 50. Mandl LA. Epidemiology of osteoarthritis. In: Osteoarthritis: a companion to rheumatology 1st edition. Sharma L, Berenbaum F eds. Mosby Elsevier. Philadelphia, PA, USA: 2007:19103-2899.
- 51. Wang M, Shen J, Jin H, Im HJ, Sandy J, Chen D: Recent progress in understanding molecular mechanisms of cartilage degeneration during osteoarthritis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2011, 1240:61-69.
- 52. Monira Hussain S, Wang Y, Cicuttini FM, Simpson JA, Giles GG, Graves S, Wluka AE: Incidence of total knee and hip replacement for osteoarthritis in relation to the metabolic syndrome and its components: a prospective cohort study. Seminars in arthritis and rheumatism 2014, 43(4):429-436.
- 53. Visser AW, Ioan-Facsinay A, de Mutsert R, Widya RL, Loef M, de Roos A, le Cessie S, den Heijer M, Rosendaal FR, Kloppenburg M: Adiposity and hand osteoarthritis: the Netherlands Epidemiology of Obesity study. Arthritis research & therapy 2014, 16(1):R19.
- 54. Cross M, Smith E, Hoy D, Nolte S, Ackerman I, Fransen M, Bridgett L, Williams S, Guillemin F, Hill CL et al: The global burden of hip and knee osteoarthritis: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2014.
- 55. Losina E, Walensky RP, Reichmann WM, Holt HL, Gerlovin H, Solomon DH, Jordan JM, Hunter DJ, Suter LG, Weinstein AM et al: Impact of obesity and knee osteoarthritis on morbidity and mortality in older Americans. Annals of internal medicine 2011, 154(4):217-226.
- 56. Petersson IF, Boegard T, Saxne T, Silman AJ, Svensson B: Radiographic osteoarthritis of the knee classified by the Ahlback and Kellgren & Lawrence systems for the tibiofemoral joint in people aged 35-54 years with chronic knee pain. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1997, 56(8):493-496.
- 57. Bergstrom G, Bjelle A, Sundh V, Svanborg A: Joint disorders at ages 70, 75 and 79 years--a cross-sectional comparison. British journal of rheumatology 1986, 25(4):333-341.
- 58. Dillon CF, Rasch EK, Gu Q, Hirsch R: Prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the United States: arthritis data from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 1991-94. The Journal of rheumatology 2006, 33(11):2271-2279.
- 59. Felson DT, Naimark A, Anderson J, Kazis L, Castelli W, Meenan RF: The prevalence of knee osteoarthritis in the elderly. The Framingham Osteoarthritis Study. Arthritis and rheumatism 1987, 30(8):914-918.

- 60. Felson DT, Nevitt MC, Zhang Y, Aliabadi P, Baumer B, Gale D, Li W, Yu W, Xu L: High prevalence of lateral knee osteoarthritis in Beijing Chinese compared with Framingham Caucasian subjects. Arthritis and rheumatism 2002, 46(5):1217-1222.
- 61. Losina E, Thornhill TS, Rome BN, Wright J, Katz JN: The dramatic increase in total knee replacement utilization rates in the United States cannot be fully explained by growth in population size and the obesity epidemic. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2012, 94(3):201-207.
- 62. Valdes AM, Doherty SA, Muir KR, Wheeler M, Maciewicz RA, Zhang W, Doherty M: The genetic contribution to severe post-traumatic osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2013, 72(10):1687-1690.
- 63. Valdes AM, Spector TD: The genetic epidemiology of osteoarthritis. Current opinion in rheumatology 2010, 22(2):139-143.
- 64. Amin S, Goggins J, Niu J, Guermazi A, Grigoryan M, Hunter DJ, Genant HK, Felson DT: Occupation-related squatting, kneeling, and heavy lifting and the knee joint: a magnetic resonance imaging-based study in men. The Journal of rheumatology 2008, 35(8):1645-1649.
- 65. Brouwer GM, van Tol AW, Bergink AP, Belo JN, Bernsen RM, Reijman M, Pols HA, Bierma-Zeinstra SM: Association between valgus and varus alignment and the development and progression of radiographic osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis and rheumatism 2007, 56(4):1204-1211.
- 66. Sharma L, Song J, Dunlop D, Felson D, Lewis CE, Segal N, Torner J, Cooke TD, Hietpas J, Lynch J et al: Varus and valgus alignment and incident and progressive knee osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2010, 69(11):1940-1945.
- 67. Tveit M, Rosengren BE, Nilsson JA, Karlsson MK: Former male elite athletes have a higher prevalence of osteoarthritis and arthroplasty in the hip and knee than expected. The American journal of sports medicine 2012, 40(3):527-533.
- 68. Brown TD, Johnston RC, Saltzman CL, Marsh JL, Buckwalter JA: Posttraumatic osteoarthritis: a first estimate of incidence, prevalence, and burden of disease. Journal of orthopaedic trauma 2006, 20(10):739-744.
- 69. Noyes FR, Mooar PA, Matthews DS, Butler DL: The symptomatic anterior cruciatedeficient knee. Part I: the long-term functional disability in athletically active individuals. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 1983, 65(2):154-162.
- 70. Schindler OS: Surgery for anterior cruciate ligament deficiency: a historical perspective. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2012, 20(1):5-47.
- 71. Ajuied A, Wong F, Smith C, Norris M, Earnshaw P, Back D, Davies A: Anterior Cruciate Ligament Injury and Radiologic Progression of Knee Osteoarthritis: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. The American journal of sports medicine 2013.
- 72. Frobell RB, Roos HP, Roos EM, Roemer FW, Ranstam J, Lohmander LS: Treatment for acute anterior cruciate ligament tear: five year outcome of randomised trial. BMJ 2013, 346:f232.

- 73. Venn M, Maroudas A: Chemical composition and swelling of normal and osteoarthrotic femoral head cartilage. I. Chemical composition. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1977, 36(2):121-129.
- 74. Heinegård D, Lorenzo P, Saxne T. The articular cartilage. In:Rheumatology 5th edition. Hochberg MC, Silman AJ, Smolen JS, Weinblatt ME, Weisman MH Eds. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Mosby Elsevier 2011:19103-2899.
- 75. Goldring MB, Marcu KB: Cartilage homeostasis in health and rheumatic diseases. Arthritis research & therapy 2009, 11(3):224.
- 76. Heinegard D: Proteoglycans and more--from molecules to biology. International journal of experimental pathology 2009, 90(6):575-586.
- 77. Heinegard D, Saxne T: The role of the cartilage matrix in osteoarthritis. Nature reviews Rheumatology 2011, 7(1):50-56.
- Roughley PJ: Articular cartilage and changes in arthritis: noncollagenous proteins and proteoglycans in the extracellular matrix of cartilage. Arthritis research 2001, 3(6):342-347.
- 79. Fosang AJ, Beier F: Emerging Frontiers in cartilage and chondrocyte biology. Best practice & research Clinical rheumatology 2011, 25(6):751-766.
- Yoshida H, Kojima T, Kurokouchi K, Takahashi S, Hanamura H, Kojima M, Poole AR, Ishiguro N: Relationship between pre-radiographic cartilage damage following anterior cruciate ligament injury and biomarkers of cartilage turnover in clinical practice: a cross-sectional observational study. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(6):831-838.
- 81. Larsson S, Lohmander LS, Struglics A: Synovial fluid level of aggrecan ARGS fragments is a more sensitive marker of joint disease than glycosaminoglycan or aggrecan levels: a cross-sectional study. Arthritis research & therapy 2009, 11(3):R92.
- 82. Sandy JD, Verscharen C: Analysis of aggrecan in human knee cartilage and synovial fluid indicates that aggrecanase (ADAMTS) activity is responsible for the catabolic turnover and loss of whole aggrecan whereas other protease activity is required for C-terminal processing in vivo. The Biochemical journal 2001, 358(Pt 3):615-626.
- 83. Struglics A, Hansson M: MMP proteolysis of the human extracellular matrix protein aggrecan is mainly a process of normal turnover. The Biochemical journal 2012, 446(2):213-223.
- 84. Struglics A, Lohmander LS, Last K, Akikusa J, Allen R, Fosang AJ: Aggrecanase cleavage in juvenile idiopathic arthritis patients is minimally detected in the aggrecan interglobular domain but robust at the aggrecan C-terminus. Arthritis and rheumatism 2012, 64(12):4151-4161; author reply 4162-4153.
- 85. Lohmander LS, Saxne T, Heinegard DK: Release of cartilage oligomeric matrix protein (COMP) into joint fluid after knee injury and in osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1994, 53(1):8-13.
- Mok MT, Ilic MZ, Handley CJ, Robinson HC: Cleavage of proteoglycan aggregate by leucocyte elastase. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 1992, 292(2):442-447.

- Larsson S, Englund M, Struglics A, Lohmander LS: Association between synovial fluid levels of aggrecan ARGS fragments and radiographic progression in knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis research & therapy 2010, 12(6):R230.
- 88. Struglics A, Hansson M, Lohmander LS: Human aggrecanase generated synovial fluid fragment levels are elevated directly after knee injuries due to proteolysis both in the inter globular and chondroitin sulfate domains. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2011, 19(8):1047-1057.
- 89. Struglics A, Larsson S, Pratta MA, Kumar S, Lark MW, Lohmander LS: Human osteoarthritis synovial fluid and joint cartilage contain both aggrecanase- and matrix metalloproteinase-generated aggrecan fragments. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2006, 14(2):101-113.
- 90. Poole AR, Pidoux I, Reiner A, Rosenberg L: An immunoelectron microscope study of the organization of proteoglycan monomer, link protein, and collagen in the matrix of articular cartilage. The Journal of cell biology 1982, 93(3):921-937.
- 91. Redler I, Mow VC, Zimny ML, Mansell J: The ultrastructure and biomechanical significance of the tidemark of articular cartilage. Clinical orthopaedics and related research 1975(112):357-362.
- 92. Quinn TM, Hunziker EB, Hauselmann HJ: Variation of cell and matrix morphologies in articular cartilage among locations in the adult human knee. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2005, 13(8):672-678.
- Rolauffs B, Williams JM, Grodzinsky AJ, Kuettner KE, Cole AA: Distinct horizontal patterns in the spatial organization of superficial zone chondrocytes of human joints. Journal of structural biology 2008, 162(2):335-344.
- 94. Flannery CR, Hughes CE, Schumacher BL, Tudor D, Aydelotte MB, Kuettner KE, Caterson B: Articular cartilage superficial zone protein (SZP) is homologous to megakaryocyte stimulating factor precursor and Is a multifunctional proteoglycan with potential growth-promoting, cytoprotective, and lubricating properties in cartilage metabolism. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 1999, 254(3):535-541.
- 95. Franzen A, Inerot S, Hejderup SO, Heinegard D: Variations in the composition of bovine hip articular cartilage with distance from the articular surface. The Biochemical journal 1981, 195(3):535-543.
- 96. Pretzel D, Linss S, Rochler S, Endres M, Kaps C, Alsalameh S, Kinne RW: Relative percentage and zonal distribution of mesenchymal progenitor cells in human osteoarthritic and normal cartilage. Arthritis research & therapy 2011, 13(2):R64.
- 97. Clark JM: Variation of collagen fiber alignment in a joint surface: a scanning electron microscope study of the tibial plateau in dog, rabbit, and man. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 1991, 9(2):246-257.
- 98. Glasson SS, Askew R, Sheppard B, Carito B, Blanchet T, Ma HL, Flannery CR, Peluso D, Kanki K, Yang Z et al: Deletion of active ADAMTS5 prevents cartilage degradation in a murine model of osteoarthritis. Nature 2005, 434(7033):644-648.

- 99. Little CB, Meeker CT, Golub SB, Lawlor KE, Farmer PJ, Smith SM, Fosang AJ: Blocking aggrecanase cleavage in the aggrecan interglobular domain abrogates cartilage erosion and promotes cartilage repair. The Journal of clinical investigation 2007, 117(6):1627-1636.
- 100. Little CB, Barai A, Burkhardt D, Smith SM, Fosang AJ, Werb Z, Shah M, Thompson EW: Matrix metalloproteinase 13-deficient mice are resistant to osteoarthritic cartilage erosion but not chondrocyte hypertrophy or osteophyte development. Arthritis and rheumatism 2009, 60(12):3723-3733.
- 101. Little CB, Hunter DJ: Post-traumatic osteoarthritis: from mouse models to clinical trials. Nature reviews Rheumatology 2013, 9(8):485-497.
- 102. Wang Q, Rozelle AL, Lepus CM, Scanzello CR, Song JJ, Larsen DM, Crish JF, Bebek G, Ritter SY, Lindstrom TM et al: Identification of a central role for complement in osteoarthritis. Nature medicine 2011, 17(12):1674-1679.
- 103. Zhen G, Wen C, Jia X, Li Y, Crane JL, Mears SC, Askin FB, Frassica FJ, Chang W, Yao J et al: Inhibition of TGF-beta signaling in mesenchymal stem cells of subchondral bone attenuates osteoarthritis. Nature medicine 2013, 19(6):704-712.
- 104. Hunter DJ, Zhang YQ, Tu X, Lavalley M, Niu JB, Amin S, Guermazi A, Genant H, Gale D, Felson DT: Change in joint space width: hyaline articular cartilage loss or alteration in meniscus? Arthritis and rheumatism 2006, 54(8):2488-2495.
- 105. Matzat SJ, van Tiel J, Gold GE, Oei EH: Quantitative MRI techniques of cartilage composition. Quantitative imaging in medicine and surgery 2013, 3(3):162-174.
- 106. Van Ginckel A, Verdonk P, Witvrouw E: Cartilage adaptation after anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction: implications for clinical management and research? A systematic review of longitudinal MRI studies. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(8):1009-1024.
- 107. Nelson F, Billinghurst RC, Pidoux I, Reiner A, Langworthy M, McDermott M, Malogne T, Sitler DF, Kilambi NR, Lenczner E et al: Early post-traumatic osteoarthritis-like changes in human articular cartilage following rupture of the anterior cruciate ligament. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2006, 14(2):114-119.
- 108. Price JS, Till SH, Bickerstaff DR, Bayliss MT, Hollander AP: Degradation of cartilage type II collagen precedes the onset of osteoarthritis following anterior cruciate ligament rupture. Arthritis and rheumatism 1999, 42(11):2390-2398.
- 109. Li X, Kuo D, Theologis A, Carballido-Gamio J, Stehling C, Link TM, Ma CB, Majumdar S: Cartilage in anterior cruciate ligament-reconstructed knees: MR imaging T1 {rho} and T2--initial experience with 1-year follow-up. Radiology 2011, 258(2):505-514.
- 110. Tiderius CJ, Olsson LE, Nyquist F, Dahlberg L: Cartilage glycosaminoglycan loss in the acute phase after an anterior cruciate ligament injury: delayed gadolinium-enhanced magnetic resonance imaging of cartilage and synovial fluid analysis. Arthritis and rheumatism 2005, 52(1):120-127.

- 111. Neuman P, Tjornstrand J, Svensson J, Ragnarsson C, Roos H, Englund M, Tiderius CJ, Dahlberg LE: Longitudinal assessment of femoral knee cartilage quality using contrast enhanced MRI (dGEMRIC) in patients with anterior cruciate ligament injury--comparison with asymptomatic volunteers. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2011, 19(8):977-983.
- 112. Smith MD, Walker JG. The synovium. In:Rheumatology 5th edition. Hochberg MC, Silman AJ, Smolen JS, Weinblatt ME, Weisman MH Eds. Philadelphia, PA, USA: Mosby Elsevier 2011:19103-2899.
- 113. Waller KA, Zhang LX, Elsaid KA, Fleming BC, Warman ML, Jay GD: Role of lubricin and boundary lubrication in the prevention of chondrocyte apoptosis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2013, 110(15):5852-5857.
- 114. Kushner I, Somerville JA: Permeability of human synovial membrane to plasma proteins. Relationship to molecular size and inflammation. Arthritis and rheumatism 1971, 14(5):560-570.
- 115. Simkin PA: Assessing biomarkers in synovial fluid: consider the kinetics of clearance. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(1):7-9.
- McDonald JN, Levick JR: Effect of intra-articular hyaluronan on pressure-flow relation across synovium in anaesthetized rabbits. The Journal of physiology 1995, 485 (Pt 1):179-193.
- 117. Levick JR: Permeability of rheumatoid and normal human synovium to specific plasma proteins. Arthritis and rheumatism 1981, 24(12):1550-1560.
- 118. Onnerfjord P, Khabut A, Reinholt FP, Svensson O, Heinegard D: Quantitative proteomic analysis of eight cartilaginous tissues reveals characteristic differences as well as similarities between subgroups. The Journal of biological chemistry 2012, 287(23):18913-18924.
- 119. Bullough PG, Munuera L, Murphy J, Weinstein AM: The strength of the menisci of the knee as it relates to their fine structure. The Journal of bone and joint surgery British volume 1970, 52(3):564-567.
- 120. Atmaca H, Kesemenli CC, Memisoglu K, Ozkan A, Celik Y: Changes in the loading of tibial articular cartilage following medial meniscectomy: a finite element analysis study. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2013, 21(12):2667-2673.
- Englund M, Lohmander LS: Risk factors for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis fifteen to twenty-two years after meniscectomy. Arthritis and rheumatism 2004, 50(9):2811-2819.
- 122. Englund M, Roos EM, Lohmander LS: Impact of type of meniscal tear on radiographic and symptomatic knee osteoarthritis: a sixteen-year followup of meniscectomy with matched controls. Arthritis and rheumatism 2003, 48(8):2178-2187.

- 123. Roos H, Adalberth T, Dahlberg L, Lohmander LS: Osteoarthritis of the knee after injury to the anterior cruciate ligament or meniscus: the influence of time and age. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 1995, 3(4):261-267.
- 124. Neuman P, Englund M, Kostogiannis I, Friden T, Roos H, Dahlberg LE: Prevalence of tibiofemoral osteoarthritis 15 years after nonoperative treatment of anterior cruciate ligament injury: a prospective cohort study. The American journal of sports medicine 2008, 36(9):1717-1725.
- 125. Englund M, Lohmander LS: Patellofemoral osteoarthritis coexistent with tibiofemoral osteoarthritis in a meniscectomy population. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2005, 64(12):1721-1726.
- 126. Neuman P, Kostogiannis I, Friden T, Roos H, Dahlberg LE, Englund M: Patellofemoral osteoarthritis 15 years after anterior cruciate ligament injury--a prospective cohort study. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2009, 17(3):284-290.
- 127. Ahn JH, Bae TS, Kang KS, Kang SY, Lee SH: Longitudinal tear of the medial meniscus posterior horn in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee significantly influences anterior stability. The American journal of sports medicine 2011, 39(10):2187-2193.
- 128. Seon JK, Gadikota HR, Kozanek M, Oh LS, Gill TJ, Li G: The effect of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction on kinematics of the knee with combined anterior cruciate ligament injury and subtotal medial meniscectomy: an in vitro robotic investigation. Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association 2009, 25(2):123-130.
- 129. Sri-Ram K, Salmon LJ, Pinczewski LA, Roe JP: The incidence of secondary pathology after anterior cruciate ligament rupture in 5086 patients requiring ligament reconstruction. The bone & joint journal 2013, 95-B(1):59-64.
- 130. Henrotin Y, Pesesse L, Sanchez C: Subchondral bone and osteoarthritis: biological and cellular aspects. Osteoporosis international : a journal established as result of cooperation between the European Foundation for Osteoporosis and the National Osteoporosis Foundation of the USA 2012, 23 Suppl 8:S847-851.
- 131. Seeman E, Delmas PD: Bone quality--the material and structural basis of bone strength and fragility. The New England journal of medicine 2006, 354(21):2250-2261.
- 132. Suri S, Gill SE, Massena de Camin S, Wilson D, McWilliams DF, Walsh DA: Neurovascular invasion at the osteochondral junction and in osteophytes in osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2007, 66(11):1423-1428.
- 133. Walsh DA, McWilliams DF, Turley MJ, Dixon MR, Franses RE, Mapp PI, Wilson D: Angiogenesis and nerve growth factor at the osteochondral junction in rheumatoid arthritis and osteoarthritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2010, 49(10):1852-1861.
- 134. Pan J, Wang B, Li W, Zhou X, Scherr T, Yang Y, Price C, Wang L: Elevated crosstalk between subchondral bone and cartilage in osteoarthritic joints. Bone 2012, 51(2):212-217.

- 135. Petersson IF, Boegard T, Svensson B, Heinegard D, Saxne T: Changes in cartilage and bone metabolism identified by serum markers in early osteoarthritis of the knee joint. British journal of rheumatology 1998, 37(1):46-50.
- 136. Petersson IF, Boegard T, Dahlstrom J, Svensson B, Heinegard D, Saxne T: Bone scan and serum markers of bone and cartilage in patients with knee pain and osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 1998, 6(1):33-39.
- 137. Goldring MB, Goldring SR: Articular cartilage and subchondral bone in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 2010, 1192:230-237.
- 138. Neogi T, Bowes MA, Niu J, De Souza KM, Vincent GR, Goggins J, Zhang Y, Felson DT: Magnetic resonance imaging-based three-dimensional bone shape of the knee predicts onset of knee osteoarthritis: data from the osteoarthritis initiative. Arthritis and rheumatism 2013, 65(8):2048-2058.
- 139. Zerahn B, Munk AO, Helweg J, Hovgaard C: Bone mineral density in the proximal tibia and calcaneus before and after arthroscopic reconstruction of the anterior cruciate ligament. Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association 2006, 22(3):265-269.
- 140. Bowers M, Lohmander L, Wolstenholme C, Vincent G, Frobell R. Significant change in bone shape occur over the first five years after ACL injury. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2013; 21 Supplement: S220.
- 141. Hunter D, Lohmander L, Makovey J, Tamez-Pena J, Totterman S, EH S, et al. The effects of anterior cruciate ligament injury on bone curvature over 5 years: the KANON-trial. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2013; 21 Supplement: S138.
- 142. Buckland-Wright JC, Lynch JA, Dave B: Early radiographic features in patients with anterior cruciate ligament rupture. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2000, 59(8):641-646.
- 143. Even-Sapir E, Arbel R, Lerman H, Flusser G, Livshitz G, Halperin N: Bone injury associated with anterior cruciate ligament and meniscal tears: assessment with bone single photon emission computed tomography. Investigative radiology 2002, 37(9):521-527.
- 144. Frobell RB, Le Graverand MP, Buck R, Roos EM, Roos HP, Tamez-Pena J, Totterman S, Lohmander LS: The acutely ACL injured knee assessed by MRI: changes in joint fluid, bone marrow lesions, and cartilage during the first year. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2009, 17(2):161-167.
- 145. Boks SS, Vroegindeweij D, Koes BW, Bernsen RM, Hunink MG, Bierma-Zeinstra SM: Clinical consequences of posttraumatic bone bruise in the knee. The American journal of sports medicine 2007, 35(6):990-995.
- 146. Johnson DL, Bealle DP, Brand JC, Jr., Nyland J, Caborn DN: The effect of a geographic lateral bone bruise on knee inflammation after acute anterior cruciate ligament rupture. The American journal of sports medicine 2000, 28(2):152-155.

- 147. Szkopek K, Warming T, Neergaard K, Jorgensen HL, Christensen HE, Krogsgaard M: Pain and knee function in relation to degree of bone bruise after acute anterior cruciate ligament rupture. Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports 2012, 22(5):635-642.
- 148. Berenbaum F: Osteoarthritis as an inflammatory disease (osteoarthritis is not osteoarthrosis!). Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(1):16-21.
- 149. Pearle AD, Scanzello CR, George S, Mandl LA, DiCarlo EF, Peterson M, Sculco TP, Crow MK: Elevated high-sensitivity C-reactive protein levels are associated with local inflammatory findings in patients with osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2007, 15(5):516-523.
- 150. Roemer FW, Guermazi A, Felson DT, Niu J, Nevitt MC, Crema MD, Lynch JA, Lewis CE, Torner J, Zhang Y: Presence of MRI-detected joint effusion and synovitis increases the risk of cartilage loss in knees without osteoarthritis at 30-month follow-up: the MOST study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2011, 70(10):1804-1809.
- 151. de Lange-Brokaar BJ, Ioan-Facsinay A, van Osch GJ, Zuurmond AM, Schoones J, Toes RE, Huizinga TW, Kloppenburg M: Synovial inflammation, immune cells and their cytokines in osteoarthritis: a review. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2012, 20(12):1484-1499.
- 152. Buckley MG, Walters C, Wong WM, Cawley MI, Ren S, Schwartz LB, Walls AF: Mast cell activation in arthritis: detection of alpha- and beta-tryptase, histamine and eosinophil cationic protein in synovial fluid. Clin Sci (Lond) 1997, 93(4):363-370.
- 153. Elsaid KA, Fleming BC, Oksendahl HL, Machan JT, Fadale PD, Hulstyn MJ, Shalvoy R, Jay GD: Decreased lubricin concentrations and markers of joint inflammation in the synovial fluid of patients with anterior cruciate ligament injury. Arthritis and rheumatism 2008, 58(6):1707-1715.
- 154. Ilic MZ, Vankemmelbeke MN, Holen I, Buttle DJ, Clem Robinson H, Handley CJ: Bovine joint capsule and fibroblasts derived from joint capsule express aggrecanase activity. Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology 2000, 19(3):257-265.
- 155. Lambert C, Dubuc, JE, Montell, E, Vergés J, Munaut C, Noel A, Henrotin Y: Gene expression pattern of cells from inflamed and normal areas of osteoarthritis synovial memrane. Arthritis and rheumatism 2014, 66(4):960-968.
- 156. Vankemmelbeke MN, Holen I, Wilson AG, Ilic MZ, Handley CJ, Kelner GS, Clark M, Liu C, Maki RA, Burnett D et al: Expression and activity of ADAMTS-5 in synovium. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS 2001, 268(5):1259-1268.
- 157. Vankemmelbeke MN, Ilic MZ, Handley CJ, Knight CG, Buttle DJ: Coincubation of bovine synovial or capsular tissue with cartilage generates a soluble "Aggrecanase" activity. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 1999, 255(3):686-691.

- 158. Li Y, Frank EH, Wang Y, Chubinskaya S, Huang HH, Grodzinsky AJ: Moderate dynamic compression inhibits pro-catabolic response of cartilage to mechanical injury, tumor necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-6, but accentuates degradation above a strain threshold. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(12):1933-1941.
- 159. Madsen SH, Sumer EU, Bay-Jensen AC, Sondergaard BC, Qvist P, Karsdal MA: Aggrecanase- and matrix metalloproteinase-mediated aggrecan degradation is associated with different molecular characteristics of aggrecan and separated in time ex vivo. Biomarkers : biochemical indicators of exposure, response, and susceptibility to chemicals 2010, 15(3):266-276.
- 160. Pratta MA, Yao W, Decicco C, Tortorella MD, Liu RQ, Copeland RA, Magolda R, Newton RC, Trzaskos JM, Arner EC: Aggrecan protects cartilage collagen from proteolytic cleavage. The Journal of biological chemistry 2003, 278(46):45539-45545.
- 161. Sui Y, Lee JH, DiMicco MA, Vanderploeg EJ, Blake SM, Hung HH, Plaas AH, James IE, Song XY, Lark MW et al: Mechanical injury potentiates proteoglycan catabolism induced by interleukin-6 with soluble interleukin-6 receptor and tumor necrosis factor alpha in immature bovine and adult human articular cartilage. Arthritis and rheumatism 2009, 60(10):2985-2996.
- 162. Malfait AM, Tortorella M, Thompson J, Hills R, Meyer DM, Jaffee BD, Chinn K, Ghoreishi-Haack N, Markosyan S, Arner EC: Intra-articular injection of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in the rat: an acute and reversible in vivo model of cartilage proteoglycan degradation. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2009, 17(5):627-635.
- 163. Thomas L: Reversible collapse of rabbit ears after intravenous papain, and prevention of recovery by cortisone. The Journal of experimental medicine 1956, 104(2):245-252.
- 164. de Grauw JC, van de Lest CH, van Weeren PR: Inflammatory mediators and cartilage biomarkers in synovial fluid after a single inflammatory insult: a longitudinal experimental study. Arthritis research & therapy 2009, 11(2):R35.
- 165. Lohmander LS, Atley LM, Pietka TA, Eyre DR: The release of crosslinked peptides from type II collagen into human synovial fluid is increased soon after joint injury and in osteoarthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism 2003, 48(11):3130-3139.
- 166. Oleksyszyn J, Augustine AJ: Plasminogen modulation of IL-1-stimulated degradation in bovine and human articular cartilage explants. The role of the endogenous inhibitors: PAI-1, alpha 2-antiplasmin, alpha 1-PI, alpha 2-macroglobulin and TIMP. Inflammation research : official journal of the European Histamine Research Society [et al] 1996, 45(9):464-472.
- 167. Jin X, Beguerie JR, Zhang W, Blizzard L, Otahal P, Jones G, Ding C: Circulating C reactive protein in osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2013.
- 168. Scanzello CR, McKeon B, Swaim BH, DiCarlo E, Asomugha EU, Kanda V, Nair A, Lee DM, Richmond JC, Katz JN et al: Synovial inflammation in patients undergoing arthroscopic meniscectomy: molecular characterization and relationship to symptoms. Arthritis and rheumatism 2011, 63(2):391-400.

- 169. Hall M, Doherty S, Courtney P, Latief K, Zhang W, Doherty M: Ultrasound detected synovial change and pain response following intra-articular injection of corticosteroid and a placebo in symptomatic osteoarthritic knees: a pilot study. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2014.
- 170. Ozturk C, Atamaz F, Hepguler S, Argin M, Arkun R: The safety and efficacy of intraarticular hyaluronan with/without corticosteroid in knee osteoarthritis: 1-year, single-blind, randomized study. Rheumatology international 2006, 26(4):314-319.
- 171. Gallelli L, Galasso O, Falcone D, Southworth S, Greco M, Ventura V, Romualdi P, Corigliano A, Terracciano R, Savino R et al: The effects of nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs on clinical outcomes, synovial fluid cytokine concentration and signal transduction pathways in knee osteoarthritis. A randomized open label trial. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(9):1400-1408.
- 172. Gandhi R, Santone D, Takahashi M, Dessouki O, Mahomed NN: Inflammatory predictors of ongoing pain 2 years following knee replacement surgery. The Knee 2013, 20(5):316-318.
- 173. Lotz MK: New developments in osteoarthritis. Posttraumatic osteoarthritis: pathogenesis and pharmacological treatment options. Arthritis research & therapy 2010, 12(3):211.
- 174. Chockalingam PS, Glasson SS, Lohmander LS: Tenascin-C levels in synovial fluid are elevated after injury to the human and canine joint and correlate with markers of inflammation and matrix degradation. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2013, 21(2):339-345.
- 175. Denoble AE, Huffman KM, Stabler TV, Kelly SJ, Hershfield MS, McDaniel GE, Coleman RE, Kraus VB: Uric acid is a danger signal of increasing risk for osteoarthritis through inflammasome activation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 2011, 108(5):2088-2093.
- 176. Piccinini AM, Midwood KS: DAMPening inflammation by modulating TLR signalling. Mediators of inflammation 2010, 2010.
- 177. Medzhitov R, Janeway C, Jr.: Innate immunity. The New England journal of medicine 2000, 343(5):338-344.
- 178. Mölne J, Wold A. Inflammation. In: Inflammation Mölne J, Wold A. Eds. Liber (2007-11).
- 179. Cameron M, Buchgraber A, Passler H, Vogt M, Thonar E, Fu F, Evans CH: The natural history of the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. Changes in synovial fluid cytokine and keratan sulfate concentrations. The American journal of sports medicine 1997, 25(6):751-754.
- 180. Higuchi H, Shirakura K, Kimura M, Terauchi M, Shinozaki T, Watanabe H, Takagishi K: Changes in biochemical parameters after anterior cruciate ligament injury. International orthopaedics 2006, 30(1):43-47.
- 181. Cuellar VG, Cuellar JM, Golish SR, Yeomans DC, Scuderi GJ: Cytokine profiling in acute anterior cruciate ligament injury. Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association 2010, 26(10):1296-1301.

- 182. Tchetverikov I, Lohmander LS, Verzijl N, Huizinga TW, TeKoppele JM, Hanemaaijer R, DeGroot J: MMP protein and activity levels in synovial fluid from patients with joint injury, inflammatory arthritis, and osteoarthritis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 2005, 64(5):694-698.
- 183. Pelletier JP, DiBattista JA, Raynauld JP, Wilhelm S, Martel-Pelletier J: The in vivo effects of intraarticular corticosteroid injections on cartilage lesions, stromelysin, interleukin-1, and oncogene protein synthesis in experimental osteoarthritis. Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology 1995, 72(5):578-586.
- 184. Kraus VB, Birmingham J, Stabler TV, Feng S, Taylor DC, Moorman CT, 3rd, Garrett WE, Toth AP: Effects of intraarticular IL1-Ra for acute anterior cruciate ligament knee injury: a randomized controlled pilot trial (NCT00332254). Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2012, 20(4):271-278.
- 185. Frobell RB, Roos EM, Roos HP, Ranstam J, Lohmander LS: A randomized trial of treatment for acute anterior cruciate ligament tears. The New England journal of medicine 2010, 363(4):331-342.
- 186. Lohmander LS, Hoerrner LA, Lark MW: Metalloproteinases, tissue inhibitor, and proteoglycan fragments in knee synovial fluid in human osteoarthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism 1993, 36(2):181-189.
- 187. Lohmander LS, Ionescu M, Jugessur H, Poole AR: Changes in joint cartilage aggrecan after knee injury and in osteoarthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism 1999, 42(3):534-544.
- 188. Roos H, Ornell M, Gardsell P, Lohmander LS, Lindstrand A: Soccer after anterior cruciate ligament injury--an incompatible combination? A national survey of incidence and risk factors and a 7-year follow-up of 310 players. Acta orthopaedica Scandinavica 1995, 66(2):107-112.
- 189. Altman RD, Hochberg M, Murphy WA, Jr., Wolfe F, Lequesne M: Atlas of individual radiographic features in osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 1995, 3 Suppl A:3-70.
- 190. Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS: Radiological assessment of osteo-arthrosis. Annals of the rheumatic diseases 1957, 16(4):494-502.
- 191. Bjornsson S: Simultaneous preparation and quantitation of proteoglycans by precipitation with alcian blue. Analytical biochemistry 1993, 210(2):282-291.
- 192. Kiani C, Chen L, Wu YJ, Yee AJ, Yang BB: Structure and function of aggrecan. Cell research 2002, 12(1):19-32.
- 193. Buckland-Wright C: Subchondral bone changes in hand and knee osteoarthritis detected by radiography. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2004, 12 Suppl A:S10-19.
- 194. Lewis JS, Hembree WC, Furman BD, Tippets L, Cattel D, Huebner JL, Little D, DeFrate LE, Kraus VB, Guilak F et al: Acute joint pathology and synovial inflammation is associated with increased intra-articular fracture severity in the mouse knee. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2011, 19(7):864-873.

- 195. Tochigi Y, Vaseenon T, Heiner AD, Fredericks DC, Martin JA, Rudert MJ, Hillis SL, Brown TD, McKinley TO: Instability dependency of osteoarthritis development in a rabbit model of graded anterior cruciate ligament transection. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2011, 93(7):640-647.
- 196. Quinn TM, Grodzinsky AJ, Hunziker EB, Sandy JD: Effects of injurious compression on matrix turnover around individual cells in calf articular cartilage explants. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 1998, 16(4):490-499.
- 197. Lee JH, Fitzgerald JB, DiMicco MA, Cheng DM, Flannery CR, Sandy JD, Plaas AH, Grodzinsky AJ: Co-culture of mechanically injured cartilage with joint capsule tissue alters chondrocyte expression patterns and increases ADAMTS5 production. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 2009, 489(1-2):118-126.
- 198. Lee JH, Fitzgerald JB, Dimicco MA, Grodzinsky AJ: Mechanical injury of cartilage explants causes specific time-dependent changes in chondrocyte gene expression. Arthritis and rheumatism 2005, 52(8):2386-2395.
- 199. Lehmann W, Edgar CM, Wang K, Cho TJ, Barnes GL, Kakar S, Graves DT, Rueger JM, Gerstenfeld LC, Einhorn TA: Tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF-alpha) coordinately regulates the expression of specific matrix metalloproteinases (MMPS) and angiogenic factors during fracture healing. Bone 2005, 36(2):300-310.
- 200. Bahl V, Goyal A, Jain V, Joshi D, Chaudhary D: Effect of haemarthrosis on the rehabilitation of anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction--single bundle versus double bundle. Journal of orthopaedic surgery and research 2013, 8:5.
- 201. Tochigi Y, Buckwalter JA, Martin JA, Hillis SL, Zhang P, Vaseenon T, Lehman AD, Brown TD: Distribution and progression of chondrocyte damage in a whole-organ model of human ankle intra-articular fracture. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2011, 93(6):533-539.
- 202. Martin JA, McCabe D, Walter M, Buckwalter JA, McKinley TO: N-acetylcysteine inhibits post-impact chondrocyte death in osteochondral explants. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2009, 91(8):1890-1897.
- 203. Ramakrishnan P, Hecht BA, Pedersen DR, Lavery MR, Maynard J, Buckwalter JA, Martin JA: Oxidant conditioning protects cartilage from mechanically induced damage. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 2010, 28(7):914-920.
- 204. McKinley TO, Borrelli J, Jr., D'Lima DD, Furman BD, Giannoudis PV: Basic science of intra-articular fractures and posttraumatic osteoarthritis. Journal of orthopaedic trauma 2010, 24(9):567-570.
- 205. Bedi A, Kelly NH, Baad M, Fox AJ, Brophy RH, Warren RF, Maher SA: Dynamic contact mechanics of the medial meniscus as a function of radial tear, repair, and partial meniscectomy. The Journal of bone and joint surgery American volume 2010, 92(6):1398-1408.
- 206. Salmon LJ, Russell VJ, Refshauge K, Kader D, Connolly C, Linklater J, Pinczewski LA: Long-term outcome of endoscopic anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction with patellar tendon autograft: minimum 13-year review. The American journal of sports medicine 2006, 34(5):721-732.

- 207. Sherman MF, Warren RF, Marshall JL, Savatsky GJ: A clinical and radiographical analysis of 127 anterior cruciate insufficient knees. Clinical orthopaedics and related research 1988, 227:229-237.
- 208. Huetink K, Nelissen RG, Watt I, van Erkel AR, Bloem JL: Localized development of knee osteoarthritis can be predicted from MR imaging findings a decade earlier. Radiology 2010, 256(2):536-546.
- 209. Panzer S, Augat P, Atzwanger J, Hergan K: 3-T MRI assessment of osteophyte formation in patients with unilateral anterior cruciate ligament injury and reconstruction. Skeletal radiology 2012, 41(12):1597-1604.
- 210. Lawrence JT, Birmingham J, Toth AP: Emerging ideas: prevention of posttraumatic arthritis through interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor-alpha inhibition. Clinical orthopaedics and related research 2011, 469(12):3522-3526.
- 211. Scanzello CR, Umoh E, Pessler F, Diaz-Torne C, Miles T, Dicarlo E, Potter HG, Mandl L, Marx R, Rodeo S et al: Local cytokine profiles in knee osteoarthritis: elevated synovial fluid interleukin-15 differentiates early from end-stage disease. Osteoarthritis and cartilage / OARS, Osteoarthritis Research Society 2009, 17(8):1040-1048.
- 212. Marks PH, Donaldson ML: Inflammatory cytokine profiles associated with chondral damage in the anterior cruciate ligament-deficient knee. Arthroscopy : the journal of arthroscopic & related surgery : official publication of the Arthroscopy Association of North America and the International Arthroscopy Association 2005, 21(11):1342-1347.
- 213. Yamaga M, Tsuji K, Miyatake K, Yamada J, Abula K, Ju YJ, Sekiya I, Muneta T: Osteopontin level in synovial fluid is associated with the severity of joint pain and cartilage degradation after anterior cruciate ligament rupture. PloS one 2012, 7(11):e49014.
- 214. Irie K, Uchiyama E, Iwaso H: Intraarticular inflammatory cytokines in acute anterior cruciate ligament injured knee. The Knee 2003, 10(1):93-96.
- 215. Lee AJ, Hodges S, Eastell R: Measurement of osteocalcin. Annals of clinical biochemistry 2000, 37 (Pt 4):432-446.
- 216. Alford AI, Hankenson KD: Matricellular proteins: Extracellular modulators of bone development, remodeling, and regeneration. Bone 2006, 38(6):749-757.
- 217. Schultz GS, Wysocki A: Interactions between extracellular matrix and growth factors in wound healing. Wound repair and regeneration : official publication of the Wound Healing Society [and] the European Tissue Repair Society 2009, 17(2):153-162.
- 218. Liu A, Mosher DF, Murphy-Ullrich JE, Goldblum SE: The counteradhesive proteins, thrombospondin 1 and SPARC/osteonectin, open the tyrosine phosphorylation-responsive paracellular pathway in pulmonary vascular endothelia. Microvascular research 2009, 77(1):13-20.
- 219. Lund SA, Giachelli CM, Scatena M: The role of osteopontin in inflammatory processes. Journal of cell communication and signaling 2009, 3(3-4):311-322.
- 220. Uede T: Osteopontin, intrinsic tissue regulator of intractable inflammatory diseases. Pathology international 2011, 61(5):265-280.

- 221. Honsawek S, Tanavalee A, Sakdinakiattikoon M, Chayanupatkul M, Yuktanandana P: Correlation of plasma and synovial fluid osteopontin with disease severity in knee osteoarthritis. Clinical biochemistry 2009, 42(9):808-812.
- 222. Nakamura S, Kamihagi K, Satakeda H, Katayama M, Pan H, Okamoto H, Noshiro M, Takahashi K, Yoshihara Y, Shimmei M et al: Enhancement of SPARC (osteonectin) synthesis in arthritic cartilage. Increased levels in synovial fluids from patients with rheumatoid arthritis and regulation by growth factors and cytokines in chondrocyte cultures. Arthritis and rheumatism 1996, 39(4):539-551.
- 223. Oiestad BE, Holm I, Engebretsen L, Aune AK, Gunderson R, Risberg MA: The prevalence of patellofemoral osteoarthritis 12 years after anterior cruciate ligament reconstruction. Knee surgery, sports traumatology, arthroscopy : official journal of the ESSKA 2013, 21(4):942-949.
- 224. Wang Y, Simpson JA, Wluka AE, Teichtahl AJ, English DR, Giles GG, Graves S, Cicuttini FM: Relationship between body adiposity measures and risk of primary knee and hip replacement for osteoarthritis: a prospective cohort study. Arthritis research & therapy 2009, 11(2):R31.
- 225. Agricola R, Waarsing JH, Arden NK, Carr AJ, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Thomas GE, Weinans H, Glyn-Jones S: Cam impingement of the hip--a risk factor for hip osteoarthritis. Nature reviews Rheumatology 2013, 9(10):630-634.
- 226. Scanlan SF, Chaudhari AM, Dyrby CO, Andriacchi TP: Differences in tibial rotation during walking in ACL reconstructed and healthy contralateral knees. Journal of biomechanics 2010, 43(9):1817-1822.
- 227. Palmieri-Smith RM, Thomas AC: A neuromuscular mechanism of posttraumatic osteoarthritis associated with ACL injury. Exercise and sport sciences reviews 2009, 37(3):147-153.
- 228. Cahue S, Dunlop D, Hayes K, Song J, Torres L, Sharma L: Varus-valgus alignment in the progression of patellofemoral osteoarthritis. Arthritis and rheumatism 2004, 50(7):2184-2190.
- 229. Cerejo R, Dunlop DD, Cahue S, Channin D, Song J, Sharma L: The influence of alignment on risk of knee osteoarthritis progression according to baseline stage of disease. Arthritis and rheumatism 2002, 46(10):2632-2636.
- 230. Andrews M, Noyes FR, Hewett TE, Andriacchi TP: Lower limb alignment and foot angle are related to stance phase knee adduction in normal subjects: a critical analysis of the reliability of gait analysis data. Journal of orthopaedic research : official publication of the Orthopaedic Research Society 1996, 14(2):289-295.